
City of Plymouth Plan Commission 
Members: Please notify us if you are unable to attend the meeting. 

Chairman; Mayor Don Pohlman 

Members: 
Greg Hildebrand (Vice Chairman) 
Jane Meyer 
Jeremy Schellin 
Ron Nicolaus 
John Wyatt 
Justin Schmitz 

The City of Plymouth Plan Commission will have a meeting on Thursday June 5, 2025 at 6:00 PM in Room 
305, City Hall, and Plymouth, WI.  

The agenda will be as follows: 

1.) Approval of Minutes from May 1, 2025 

2.) Discussion and Possible Recommendation of Extraterritorial Certified Survey Map; 
N5806 County Road M, Plymouth, WI 53073 - located in the Town of Sheboygan Falls. 
Scholler Property Management, LLC (enclosure) 

3.) Discussion and Possible Recommendation of Extraterritorial Certified Survey Map; 
Parcel numbers 59016215041, 59016215042, and 59016215070 – located on the 
southwest corner of Woodland Rd and State Highway 57 in the Town of Plymouth. In-n-
Out Storage LLC & Louis A. Prange Revocable Living Trust (enclosure) 

4.) Public Hearing: A public hearing to take comment on a conditional use permit application 
for the following: 

a. 2600 Kiley Way, ARHC AHPLYW101, LLC (dba Aurora Health Care) regarding a
conditional use permit amendment application seeking to install four (4) additional
ground mounted solar arrays on their property for a total number of eight (8) ground
mounted solar arrays on site in the B-3 Business Highway District as allowed
through Conditional Use Permit per PMC 13-1-132(c)(1). White (enclosure)

5.) Site Plan Seeking Approval: 2600 Kiley Way, ARHC AHPLYW101, LLC (dba Aurora 
Health Care) seeking to install four (4) additional ground mounted solar arrays on their 
property for a total number of eight (8) ground mounted solar arrays on site in the B-3 
Business Highway District as part of a related conditional use permit application. White 
(enclosure) 

6.) Public Hearing regarding the proposed creation of Tax Incremental District No. 8, the 
proposed boundaries of the District, and the proposed Project Plan for the District.  

7.) Consideration and possible action on a “Resolution Establishing the Boundaries of and 
Approving the Project Plan for Tax Incremental District No. 8.” 

Page 1 of 84



8.) Discussion and direction on legal non-conforming structures and lots 
 

9.) Communication – Letters, E-mails, or reports Related to the Plan Commission 
(Chairman, Secretary, Plan Commission Members, City of Plymouth Staff/Alderpersons) 

 
 
It is possible that members of and possibly a quorum of members of other governmental bodies of the municipality may 
be in attendance at the above stated meeting to gather information. No action will be taken by any governmental body at 
the above stated meeting other than the governmental body specifically referred to above in this notice. Please note that, 
upon reasonable notice, efforts will be made to accommodate the needs of disabled individuals through appropriate aids 
and services.  For additional information or to request this service, contact City of Plymouth ADA Coordinator Leah 
Federwisch, located in the Plymouth Utilities office at 900 County Road PP, Plymouth, WI or call 920-893-3853 
 
 

Page 2 of 84



City of Plymouth Plan Commission  
 

UNOFFICIAL MINUTES 
 

Mayor Pohlman called the meeting to order at 6:00 PM on May 1, 2025. The following members were 
present: Jane Meyer, Jeremy Schellin, Ron Nicolaus, John Wyatt, Greg Hildebrand, and Justin 
Schmitz. Also present: City Administrator/Utilities Manager Tim Blakeslee, Assistant City 
Administrator/Community Development Director Jack Johnston, and City Clerk/Deputy Treasurer 
Anna Voigt. 
 
Alderman present but not acting in official capacity: Kevin Sande 
 

1.) Approval of Minutes from April 3, 2025: Motion was made by Wyatt/Nicolaus to approve 
the minutes. Upon the call of the roll, all voted aye. Motion carried. 

 
2.) Election of Vice-Chairman of Plan Commission as Required by PMC 2-4-5(e): 

Pohlman opened the floor for nominations for Vice-Chairman. Greg Hildebrand nominated 
himself for Vice-Chairman. There being no more nominations, motion was made by 
Wyatt/Schmitz to close nominations and elect Hildebrand as Vice-Chairman. 

 
3.) Site Plan Seeking Approval; 24 S. Highland Avenue, Zurn Properties, LLC (dba 

Precision Floors & Décor), for the construction of an 8,000 square foot expansion. 
Precision Floors & Décor: Brian Zurn from Precision Flooring explained that they have 
been needing to expand for 5 or 6 years now. They plan on having space for materials and 
providing space for training new employed installers. Mayor Pohlman asked staff if there 
are any future roadway concerns that this expansion would interrupt? Johnston stated that 
he talked with DPW Director Austin and there are currently no future plans for road 
expansion of Roberts Pl. Johnston added the applicant did ask during initial discussion 
about having driveway access to Robert’s Pl. and that would not be allowed.  
Motion was made by Nicolaus/Schmitz to approve the site plan of 24 S. Highland Ave., 
Zurn Properties, LLC for the construction of an 8,000 square foot expansion. Upon the call 
of the roll, all voted aye. Motion carried. 

 
4.) Site Plan Seeking Approval; 411 County Road PP, Masters Gallery Foods, Inc. for 

the expansion of an existing parking lot. Tim Yeager from Masters Gallery explained 
they would like to add a parking lot to the south side of the building. Mayor Pohlman asked 
if they are taking away the hill. Yeager answered no, they will have to dig into it a little bit. 
A retention pond was built as big as it was in anticipation that they would have to do this at 
some point. Motion was made was by Nicolaus/Wyatt to approve the site plan for 411 
County Rd. PP, Masters Gallery Foods, Inc for the expansion of an existing parking lot. 

 
5.) Discussion and Possible Recommendation of Extraterritorial Certified Survey Map; 

N5806 County Road M, Plymouth, WI 53073 - located in the Town of Sheboygan 
Falls: Item moved to next agenda 

 
6.) Discussion and possible motion; to amend the date and time of the previously 

scheduled Plan Commission meeting on July 3, 2025: Motion was made by 
Nicolaus/Schmitz to move the July meeting date to July 10. Everyone voted aye, Schellin 
nay. Motion carried.  

 
7.) Communication – Letters, E-mails, or reports Related to the Plan Commission 

Blakeslee and Johnston introduced a future zoning map system staff is working on.  
Page 3 of 84



 
Motion was made by Nicolaus/Wyatt to adjourn the meeting. A unanimous aye vote was 
cast. Motion carried. 

Page 4 of 84



 

 
 
 
City of Plymouth 
128 Smith St. - P.O. Box 107 
Plymouth, WI  53073-0107 
  
 

 
  
 

 
 
 

Telephone: (920) 893-3745 
Facsimile: (920) 893-0183 

     Web Site:        plymouthgov.com 
 
 

 
DATE:  April 22, 2025 

TO:   Plan Commission   
 
FROM: Jack Johnston, Assistant City Administrator/Community Development Director 
 
RE: Discussion and Possible Recommendation of Extraterritorial Certified 

Survey Map; N5806 County Road M, Plymouth, WI 53073 - located in the Town 
of Sheboygan Falls. Scholler Property Management, LLC (enclosure) 

 
 
Background: 
Scholler Property Management, LLC has submitted an application for approval of a certified 
survey map in the Town of Sheboygan Falls that is located in the City of Plymouth Extraterritorial 
Review jurisdiction (1.5 miles from City of Plymouth boundaries). The land division has already 
been approved by the Town of Sheboygan Falls and seeks to divide the current 6.2 acre parcel 
into three parcels. Town of Sheboygan Falls meeting minutes from March 3, 2025 indicate that 
Lot 1 (1.435 acres) would be retained with their current business. Vacant Outlot 2 (1.853 acres) 
and Outlot 3 (3 acres) would be sold.  
 
As a note, the applicants have already received approval from the Town of Sheboygan Falls for 
this land division. The City’s Common Council would be the body to give approval of the CSM. 
The Plan Commission must first furnish a recommendation to the Council, however. Sheboygan 
County will also have to approve the CSM. 
 
Public Works/Plymouth Fire Department Review: 
Both Public Works Director Austin and Chief Pafford reviewed the proposal and have no 
concerns. 
 
Staff Recommendation:  
The property is located south of STH 23 along CTH M. Due to its distance from the City, future 
development and annexation into the City is unlikely The Staff recommends the Plan 
Commission recommend approval the extraterritorial CSM for the property. Final approval of the 
CSM is scheduled to be held at the Common Council meeting on May 13, 2025 
 
Copies Mailed/Emailed To: 

I. Michael Birenbaum: michael@plymouthlandscapeco.com   
 
  

 
Attachments: 

I. Certified Survey Map  
 
 
 

 

Page 5 of 84

mailto:michael@plymouthlandscapeco.com


Page 6 of 84



Page 7 of 84



Page 8 of 84



City of Plymouth 
128 Smith St. - P.O. Box 107 
Plymouth, WI  53073-0107 

Telephone: (920) 893-3745
Facsimile: (920) 893-0183

     Web Site:        plymouthgov.com 

DATE: May 26, 2025 

TO: Plan Commission 

FROM: Jack Johnston, Assistant City Administrator/Community Development Director 

RE: Discussion and Possible Recommendation of Extraterritorial Certified 
Survey Map; Parcel numbers 59016215041, 59016215042, and 59016215070 – 
located on the southwest corner of Woodland Rd and State Highway 57 in the 
Town of Plymouth. In-n-Out Storage LLC & Louis A. Prange Revocable Living 
Trust (enclosure) 

Background: 
In-n-Out Storage LLC & Louis A. Prange Revocable Living Trust has submitted an application for 
approval of a certified survey map in the Town of Plymouth that is located in the City of Plymouth 
Extraterritorial Review jurisdiction (1.5 miles from City of Plymouth boundaries). The land division 
has already been approved by the Town of Plymouth and seeks to consolidate three existing 
parcels into two parcels of 29.179 acres and 30.334 acres respectively.  Lot 1 contains the existing 
In-n-Out Storage business, a two-family farm house, and stormwater retention. Lot 2 appears to 
be used currently for agricultural purposes. 

Public Works/Plymouth Fire Department Review: 
Both Public Works Director Austin and Chief Pafford reviewed the proposal and have no 
concerns. 

City Approval Process: 
The City’s Common Council would ultimately be the body to give approval of the CSM from the 
City of Plymouth. However, the Plan Commission must first furnish a recommendation to the 
Council.

Staff Recommendation:  
The property is not located near adjacent City lands or roadways. As such, staff recommends 
the Plan Commission recommend approval the extraterritorial CSM for the property as 
presented. Final approval of the CSM is scheduled to be held at the Common Council meeting 
later in June.  

Copies Mailed/Emailed To: 
I. Ted Scharl: tedscharl@gmail.com

Attachments: 
I. Certified Survey Map

Page 9 of 84

mailto:tedscharl@gmail.com


Page 10 of 84



Page 11 of 84



 

 
 
 
City of Plymouth 
128 Smith St. - P.O. Box 107 
Plymouth, WI  53073-0107 
  
 

 
  
 

 
 
 

Telephone: (920) 893-3745 
Facsimile: (920) 893-0183 

     Web Site:        plymouthgov.com 
 
 

 
DATE:  May 19, 2025 

TO:   Plan Commission   
 
FROM: Jack Johnston, Assistant City Administrator/Community Development Director 
 
RE: Conditional Use Permit Seeking Approval: 2600 Kiley Way, ARHC 

AHPLYW101, LLC (dba Aurora Health Care) regarding a conditional use permit 
amendment application seeking to install four (4) additional ground mounted 
solar arrays on their property for a total number of eight (8) ground mounted solar 
arrays on site in the B-3 Business Highway District as allowed through 
Conditional Use Permit per PMC 13-1-132(c)(1). White (enclosure) 

 
 Site Plan Seeking Approval: 2600 Kiley Way, ARHC AHPLYW101, LLC (dba 

Aurora Health Care) seeking to install four (4) additional ground mounted solar 
arrays on their property for a total number of eight (8) ground mounted solar 
arrays on site in the B-3 Business Highway District as part of a related 
conditional use permit application. White (enclosure) 

 
 
Background: 
Arch Solar, behalf of property owner ARHC AHPLYW101, LLC (dba Aurora Health Care), has 
applied for an amendment to their existing conditional use permit (issued in 2022) to expand the 
existing ground mounted solar array field located directly west of the Aurora building at 2600 Kiley 
Way in the City of Plymouth. Once completed, there will be four (4) additional ground mounted 
solar arrays on the property, bringing the total number to eight (8).  
 
A conditional use permit for this activity is specifically required by PMC 13-1-132(c)(1) which 
reads: 
 

• Conditional use. Free-standing solar energy conversion systems may be allowed as a 
conditional use in any district, except the CB, R-1, R-2, R-3, or R-4 Districts, so long as 
the principal use of the property is not residential. 

 
Further, their existing CUP from 2022 specifically requires an amendment to the CUP for any 
additions to the array, which is being requested for at this time. 
 
Comprehensive Plan/Zoning/Setbacks: 
The property is zoned B-3 Business Highway and sits on a 31.71 acre piece of land bound by 
STH 23 to the north and Pleasant View Road to the west. There are two stormwater retention 
ponds on both the southwest and northeast corners of the property.  
 
Ground mounted (or free-standing) solar energy conversion systems are allowed in the B-3 district 
so long as the principal use of the property is not residential. As the current facility is used as a 
healthcare clinic, the ordinance would allow this use to exist on the property.  

Page 12 of 84



  
 
The City’s Comprehensive Plan does not specifically note solar energy, but does note “supporting 
green infrastructure on public lands and encouraging (and providing education about) green 
infrastructure on private property.”  
 
Both the existing solar array and proposed addition just follow City zoning requirements including 
setbacks. City staff has provided the zoning matrix below that indicates no issues with the site 
plan in respect to setbacks in B-3, building heights, lot coverage, and lot width. 
 

ZONING CONSISTENCY MATRIX 
 Required Provided  
Zoning B-3 B-3 
Minimum Frontage n/a ~490’ along Kiley 

Way 
~1,300’ along 

Pleasant View Road 
& STH 23 

Maximum Lot Coverage of All Buildings  50%   ~6% including new 
solar arrays                                                       

Minimum Lot Width at Building Line 100’ >450’ at most narrow 
point 

Minimum Front Yard Setback  
 

50’ 
 

50’ for new and 
existing solar arrays 

Minimum Side Yard Setback 
Principal Use 
Accessory Use 

 
20’ 
10’ 

 
~650’ for clinic 

~1,000’ for solar 
arrays 

Minimum Rear Yard Setback 40’ n/a (3 front yards) 
Maximum Height Principal Structures 35’ (up to 50’ with 

CUP); 25’ accessory 
 
 

<35’ 

 
Power Generation: 
The original solar arrays installed in 2022 (Phase 1) had a capacity of 128 kW DC / 100 kW AC. 
The new expansion (Phase 2) is expected to produce 201 kW DC / 200 kW AC, nearly doubling 
the system’s size. In terms of energy output, Phase 1 generates about 162,691 kilowatt-hours 
(kWh) per year, while Phase 2 is projected to produce around 258,113 kWh annually. Phase 2 is 
expected for installation in August of 2025. 
 
Decommissioning Plan: 
PMC 13-1-132(c)(3) requires a Decommissioning Plan be submitted with the conditional use 
permit application containing the following items: 
 

• Detailed blueprints to return the property to a useful, preconstruction condition at the end 
of the solar energy conversion system's operational life. 

• The estimated cost for decommissioning, including disassembly, removal, disposal, and 
land restoration, as well as any projected credit for the salvage value of system 
components. 

• Financial assurance in the form of a performance bond, irrevocable letter of credit or other 
surety acceptable to the city administrator. 

• Decommissioning implementation timeline, including when decommissioning will 
commence after the system's end-of-life and the period for completion. 

• The decommissioning plan needs to identify when the solar facility condition renders it 
unusable and triggers decommissioning. 

• Additional materials may be required by the zoning administration or plan commission. 
 

Page 13 of 84



  
The required Decommissioning Plan has been submitted to the City and reviewed for 
completeness. As a note, City Administrator Blakeslee is not requiring any financial assurance as 
the solar array will be used to power the adjacent building.  
 
Lighting/Landscaping Plan: 
The applicant is not seeking any landscaping/lighting modifications to what is already on site. An 
approved landscaping plan was submitted to the City when the original building was constructed 
in the late 2000s.  
 
Fire Department/Public Works/Plymouth Utilities Review: 
The application materials were furnished to Chief Pafford, Public Works Director Austin, and 
Electric Operation Manager Roehrborn. All three have reviewed the submittal and have no 
concerns about the project as submitted. 
 
Conditional Use Permit Standards for Approval: 
Free-standing solar energy conversion systems may be allowed as a conditional use in the B-3 
Business Highway district. In making a motion, any decision to approve or deny a conditional use 
permit application must be supported by substantial evidence. The Plan Commission shall 
address the following, as no application for a conditional use shall be granted by the Plan 
Commission unless the following conditions are present as noted in PMC 13-1-28(f)(1): 
 

• That the establishment, maintenance or operation of the conditional use will not be 
detrimental to or endanger the public health, safety, morals, comfort or general welfare. 

• That the uses, values and enjoyment of other property in the neighborhood for purposes 
already permitted shall be in no foreseeable manner substantially impaired or diminished 
by the establishment, maintenance or operation of the conditional use and the proposed 
use is compatible with the use of adjacent land. 

• That the establishment of the conditional use will not impede the normal and orderly 
development and improvement of the surrounding property for uses permitted in the 
district, and as recommended in the City of Plymouth Comprehensive Plan. 

• That adequate utilities, access roads, drainage and other necessary site improvements 
have been or are being provided. 

• That adequate measures have been or will be taken to provide ingress and egress so 
designed as to minimize traffic congestion in the public streets. 

• That the conditional use shall, except for yard requirements, conform to all applicable 
regulations of the district in which it is located. 

• That the proposed use does not violate floodplain regulations governing the site. 
• That, when applying the above standards to any new construction of a building or an 

addition to an existing building, the plan commission and common council shall bear in 
mind the statement of purpose for the zoning district such that the proposed building or 
addition at its location does not defeat the purposes and objective of the zoning district. 

• That the plan commission and common council shall also evaluate the effect of the 
proposed use upon: 

1. The maintenance of safe and healthful conditions. 
2. The prevention and control of water pollution including sedimentation. 
3. Existing topographic and drainage features and vegetative cover on the site. 
4. The location of the site with respect to floodplains and floodways of rivers and 

streams. 
5. The erosion potential of the site based upon degree and direction of slope, soil 

type and vegetative cover. 
6. The location of the site with respect to existing or future access roads. 
7. The need of the proposed use for a shoreland location. 
8. Its compatibility with uses on adjacent land. 
9. The amount of liquid wastes to be generated and the adequacy of the proposed 

disposal systems. 
 
Draft Conditions for Permit: 

Page 14 of 84



  
City Staff and City Attorney Fieber have provided eleven (11) conditions to be adhered to within 
the conditional use permit and have supplied the draft conditions to the applicant for comment. 
The draft conditions are listed below for Plan Commission review and consideration: 
 

1. Applicant. The Conditional Use Permit (CUP) is issued to ARHC AHPLYW101, 
LLC (dba Aurora Health Care) for the development, use, and location approved by 
the City of Plymouth Plan Commission on June 5, 2025 for the construction of four 
(4) additional ground mounted photo voltaic solar arrays to bring the total amount 
of ground mounted photo voltaic solar arrays to eight (8) located on the property.  

 
2. Approved Use. The Applicant is hereby authorized to use the property, which is 

located in the B3 Highway Business District, for the installation and maintenance 
of eight (8) ground mounted photo voltaic solar arrays (the “Conditional Use”), 
pursuant to Sec. 13-1-132, subject to all the general regulations of the Zoning 
Code and subject to the conditions set forth in this Permit. Any change to or 
expansion of the Conditional Use requires an amendment to the Permit, which will 
be subject to the conditional use permit application procedure and zoning codes in 
place at that time.  

 
3. Decommissioning. The Owner shall submit a decommissioning plan to the City, 

which is subject to City approval as to acceptability, before construction may 
commence, AND SHALL BE CONSIDERD PART OF THIS Permit. 

 
4. Approval Transferable.  The Conditional Use has been approved for the Owner 

of the property.  The approval is transferable and assignable.  
 

5. State Approval.  The Owner has obtained or agrees to obtain any necessary 
approvals from the State of Wisconsin as a condition of this Conditional Use 
approval. 

 
6. City Staff Approval.  The City of Plymouth City Administrator, Community 

Development Director, City Attorney, and Building Inspector, have reviewed the 
conditional use permit application for substantial compliance with the City of 
Plymouth Code of Ordinances. 

 
7. Other Regulations. Nothing herein shall constitute a waiver or limitation of the 

Owner’s compliance with all other City of Plymouth ordinances and regulations, 
including all other requirements of the Zoning Code. 

 
8. Enforcement.   The conditions imposed herein (including the conditions imposed 

by any plans or changes submitted hereafter), shall all be enforced as on-going 
conditions of this Permit.  Failure of the Owner to comply with these conditions 
shall entitle the City to take enforcement action, which may include forfeitures, 
injunctions, and/or termination of this Permit, which in turn will require the Owner 
to cease the use of the property authorized herein until a new Conditional Use is 
approved.   

 
9. Recording. A copy of this Permit, or a Memorandum of Permit, without 

attachments, may be recorded with the Sheboygan County Register of Deeds by 
either party.   

 
10. Binding Affect: This Permit shall be binding upon both parties.  Nothing herein 

shall be construed as limiting the right of the Owner to sell, give, or otherwise 
convey the premises. 

 
11. Owner Approval.  This Conditional Use shall not become effective and shall not 

be recorded until the Owner acknowledges his/her/its acceptance of this Page 15 of 84



  
Conditional Use by signing this document in the space provided below.  The Owner 
warrants and represents that the individual signing on behalf of ARHC 
AHPLYW101 LLC, has full authority to bind the Owner.  

 
Public Notices: 
Conditional Use Permit applications require a class 2 notice in the newspaper in consecutive 
weeks with the last notice published 7 days before the public hearing at the Plan Commission 
meeting, as well as notification letters sent to all property owners within 100’ of the subject 
property’s boundaries and members of the Plan Commission and Common Council. As such, a 
legal notice was published in the Plymouth Review on May 16 and May 23 regarding this 
application. A mailer was sent to nearby property owners within 100’ on May 14. The public 
hearing required for conditional use permit applications will be held at the Plan Commission 
meeting on June 5. 
 
 
Staff Recommendation:  
Staff has reviewed the site plan and conditional use permit application and recommend approval 
of both applications with the listed conditions for the conditional use permit. In the motion for the 
conditional use permit application, staff requests the Plan Commission’s motion includes a note 
that the standards for approval found in PMC 13-1-28(f)(1) are met and satisfied. 
 
Action Requested: 
Staff requests the Plan Commission hold a public hearing for the conditional use permit 
application and consider a motion on both the conditional use permit application and the site 
plan review as separate motions.   
 
 
Attachments: 

I. Applicant Materials 
II. CUP 

 
Action Date Status 

Mail CUP notice to nearby 
owners; 
Mail CUP notice to Plan 
Commissioners and 
Common Council 

5/14/2025; 
2/25/2025 

Mailed 

CUP Public Notice in 
Plymouth Review 

5/16/2025 & 5/23/2025 Published 

Plan Commission meeting 
& Public Hearing For CUP 
and Site Plan Review 

6/5/2025 This Meeting 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 Page 16 of 84



Page A.2
Revision: 1 Date: 04.04.25

Site Plan

Designer: 920.838.0487

Justin Van Camp

Project Number: System Size:

25C.008     300kWac

Customer: Aurora Plymouth
Address: 2600 Kiley Way
City: Plymouth
State: WI
Zip Code: 53073
Contact: Paul Roeber
Phone: 920-793-6305
Email: Paul.Roeber@aah.org

1237 Pilgrim Road
Plymouth WI, 53073

Phone: (920) 893-8388
www.archelec.com

Au
ro

ra
 P

ly
m

ou
th

32
9.

94
kW

dc

N

Equipment Location:

PV inverters 1-3 to be located at the
array. Fused disconnect and PV
combiner to be located in place of
existing disconnect next to the
termination cabient where we are
interconnecting. This is located on
the NE side of the building.

Solar system will be located on the
ground 25' north of existing array
facing south using Sinclair racking.
Make sure to avoid underground
electrical.

Required 50' setback from west side
property line.

ARRAY DETAILS

Array # Mod Count Pitch (°) Azimuth (°) PV (Sqft) Array
Shade (%)

1 286 25.00 180 6692 1.8

2 344 25.00 180 10324 1.8

UM

TC

CP

UT

DISC

Inv

Legend

Utility Metering / CT Cabinet

Termination Cabinet  (POI)

PV Inverter (Qty: 3)

PV Disconnect

PV Combiner Panel

Utility Transformer

UMTC

CP

UT

DISC

Inv

Eng Seal:

Estimated Buried Electric

Charter Underground

Property Boundary

Pleasant View
 R

d

50'

31'-11.6"19'-5.5"

183'-8.4"

91'-8.6"

137'-6.5"

12'-6.2" 27'-0.4"

Required 50' Setback

55'-10.1"

88'-0.4"

103'-5.7"

26'-10.9"

20'

25'38'-7.3"

162'-8.9"

34'-8.4"

Inv

Page 17 of 84



Page A.4
Revision: 1 Date: 04.04.25

One Line Diagram

Designer: 920.838.0487

Justin Van Camp

Project Number: System Size:

25C.008     300kWac

Customer: Aurora Plymouth
Address: 2600 Kiley Way
City: Plymouth
State: WI
Zip Code: 53073
Contact: Paul Roeber
Phone: 920-793-6305
Email: Paul.Roeber@aah.org

1237 Pilgrim Road
Plymouth WI, 53073

Phone: (920) 893-8388
www.archelec.com

Au
ro

ra
 P

ly
m

ou
th

32
9.

94
kW

dc

Eng Seal:

 200A Disconnect
TO BE REMOVED

Plymouth
Utilities Grid

2500A

CT Cabinet / Termination Cabinet
2500A  600V

3P  4W
Removed CT's/meter and

replaced with bussing.
Solar terminated here. Using as a

pullbox to newly installed CT
cabinet.

Main Service Disconnect
Switchboard

Nema 3R
3000A  480/277V

DCC-001

1 2

String count: 11
Module count: 286

1 2

ZnShine 450W

26

Monitoring
Cell or Fiber Op.

1 2

1 2

1 2

1 2

1 2

1 2

1 2

1 2

1 2

Max DC Power Rating
Operating DC Voltage Range

Array Specifications

11.7 kW

 750-1450V
Max AC Power Rating
Max DC Input Voltage
Max DC Input Current
Nominal AC Operating Voltage

Max AC Operating Current

Inverter Specifications
CPS SCH100KTL-480  (Qty: 3)

100 kW  /  300kW AC Total
1500 V
220 A
480 V
126.7 A  /  380.1 A Total

Strings of 26 Mods / 24 Mods / 22 Mods

MPPT Voltage Range 760-1300V

329.94 kW DC Total

Max DC System Voltage 1500 V

Short Circuit Current 11.35 A

Conductor Schedule

ID Sets
Phase

Quantity
Color &

Size Insulation Material Neutral Ground

DCC-01

ACC-01

Size Type

Conduit Schedule

26 2 BR #10 AWG PV Wire Cu - #6 THWN Cu Up to Electrician PVC

1 3 BOY 4/0kcmil Al #4 Al THWN 2", 1" (comms) PVC / HDPE

Voltage
Drop

0.84 % (225')

2.78 % (425')

ACC-02 2 3 THWN Al 2.62 % (400')

STC Rating
Vmp
Imp
Voc
Isc

Module Specifications
ZnShine ZXM6-NHLDD144 450Wbf  (Qty: 286)
Qcell Q.Peal Duo XL-G11S 585Wbf (Qty: 344)

450 W
42.1 V
10.70 A
50.5 V
11.35 A

26

26

26

26

26

26

26

26

26

26

Existing System Installed 2023
Located at the arrayDCC-001

ACC-003

-

-

ACC-001

CPS SCH100KTL-480
Inverter

w/ Standard Wire Box
(Existing)

BOY 3/0kcmil #4 Al THWN

Newly installed CT cabinet located on
pad next to the transformer.

200A

THWN

 600A 3 Pole 480Vac
NEMA 3R Fused
Utility Disconnect

***NEW***

500A

175A 3P
175A 3P

TVSS

600A 480V 3P
Nema 3R
Main Lug

Combiner Panel
***NEW***

175A 3P

DCC-001

1 2

String count: 8
Module count: 176

1 2

Qcell 585W

Monitoring
Cell or Fiber Op.

1 2

1 2

1 2

1 2

1 2

1 2 22

DCC-001

CPS SCH100KTL-480
Inverter

w/ Standard Wire Box
***NEW***

22

22

22

22

22

22

22

DCC-001

1 2

String count: 7
Module count: 168

1 2

Qcell 585W

Monitoring
Cell or Fiber Op.

1 2

1 2

1 2

1 2

1 2

1 2

DCC-001

CPS SCH100KTL-480
Inverter

w/ Standard Wire Box
***NEW***

24

24

24

24

24

24

24

24

585 W
44.75 V
13.07 A
53.57 V
13.72 A

14.04 kW

 750-1450V

760-1300V

1500 V

13.72 A

12.87 kW

 750-1450V

760-1300V

1500 V

13.72 A

INV 1

INV 2

INV 3

ACC-002

ACC-003

ACC-03 2 3 THWN Al EMT0.10 % (30') -BOY 350kcmil 3/0 Al THWN 2.5"

(2) 2", (1) 1" comms PVC / HDPE

Page 18 of 84



Page 19 of 84



Page 20 of 84



Page 21 of 84



Page 22 of 84



Page 23 of 84



Page 24 of 84



Page 25 of 84



Page 26 of 84



Page 27 of 84



Page 28 of 84



Page 29 of 84



5/8/25

Page 30 of 84



City of Plymouth 

CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT 
AMENDMENT 

(ARHC AHPLYW101, LLC - Existing Solar Array Expansion) 

This Conditional Use Permit Amendment (the “Permit”) is granted by the City of 
Plymouth, a Wisconsin municipal corporation, maintaining its principal office at 128 Smith 
Street, Plymouth, WI 53073 to ARHC AHPLYW101, LLC, (dba Aurora Health Care) a 
limited liability company, maintaining its principal office at 200 Dryden Rd E, Dresher, 
PA 19025-1044 (the “Owner”).   

The Permit is granted to the Owner for the property with tax key 59271820846 located at 
2600 Kiley Way within the City of Plymouth, Wisconsin, to allow the development and 
construction of four (4) additional ground mounted photo voltaic solar arrays to the 
property. This Permit repeals and replaces the Conditional Use Permit granted in 2022 to 
the Owner. The Permit is granted with the following conditions:  

1. Applicant. The Conditional Use Permit (CUP) is issued to ARHC AHPLYW101,
LLC (dba Aurora Health Care) for the development, use, and location approved by
the City of Plymouth Plan Commission on June 5, 2025 for the construction of four
(4) additional ground mounted photo voltaic solar arrays to bring the total amount
of ground mounted photo voltaic solar arrays to eight (8) located on the property.

2. Approved Use. The Applicant is hereby authorized to use the property, which is
located in the B3 Highway Business District, for the installation and maintenance
of eight (8) ground mounted photo voltaic solar arrays (the “Conditional Use”),
pursuant to Sec. 13-1-132, subject to all the general regulations of the Zoning Code
and subject to the conditions set forth in this Permit. Any change to or expansion of
the Conditional Use requires an amendment to the Permit, which will be subject to
the conditional use permit application procedure and zoning codes in place at that
time.

3. Decommissioning. The Owner shall submit a decommissioning plan to the City,
which is subject to City approval as to acceptability, before construction may
commence, AND SHALL BE CONSIDERD PART OF THIS Permit.

4. Approval Transferable.  The Conditional Use has been approved for the Owner of
the property.  The approval is transferable and assignable.

Page 31 of 84



 
 

 
5. State Approval.  The Owner has obtained or agrees to obtain any necessary 

approvals from the State of Wisconsin as a condition of this Conditional Use 
approval. 
 

6. City Staff Approval.  The City of Plymouth City Administrator, Community 
Development Director, City Attorney, and Building Inspector, have reviewed the 
conditional use permit application for substantial compliance with the City of 
Plymouth Code of Ordinances. 
 

7. Other Regulations. Nothing herein shall constitute a waiver or limitation of the 
Owner’s compliance with all other City of Plymouth ordinances and regulations, 
including all other requirements of the Zoning Code. 
 

8. Enforcement.   The conditions imposed herein (including the conditions imposed 
by any plans or changes submitted hereafter), shall all be enforced as on-going 
conditions of this Permit.  Failure of the Owner to comply with these conditions 
shall entitle the City to take enforcement action, which may include forfeitures, 
injunctions, and/or termination of this Permit, which in turn will require the Owner 
to cease the use of the property authorized herein until a new Conditional Use is 
approved.   
 

9. Recording. A copy of this Permit, or a Memorandum of Permit, without 
attachments, may be recorded with the Sheboygan County Register of Deeds by 
either party.   
 

10. Binding Affect: This Permit shall be binding upon both parties.  Nothing herein 
shall be construed as limiting the right of the Owner to sell, give, or otherwise 
convey the premises. 
 

11. Owner Approval.  This Conditional Use shall not become effective and shall not 
be recorded until the Owner acknowledges his/her/its acceptance of this Conditional 
Use by signing this document in the space provided below.  The Owner warrants 
and represents that the individual signing on behalf of ARHC AHPLYW101 LLC, 
has full authority to bind the Owner.  

 
 

Introduced and adopted this ___day of __________, 20 _____. 
 
           CITY OF PLYMOUTH PLAN COMMISSION 
     

Page 32 of 84



 
 

 
 
 
Approved: ___________________________   Attest: __________________________ 
                   Donald Pohlman, Chairman              Jack Johnston, Secretary 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
OWNER APPROVAL 
 

The undersigned Owner hereby acknowledges receipt of this Conditional Use and 
hereby acknowledges that the development and use of the property shall conform with the 
terms and conditions of this Permit and the City of Plymouth Zoning Code.  The 
undersigned further represents that he or she has full authority to execute this Conditional 
Use Permit on behalf of the Owner and to bind the Owner to the terms hereof. 
 
 
 
Signature_____________________________________   Dated: ____________________ 
        ARHC AHPLYW101 LLC 
                  [insert person name and title] 
 
 
 
 
This document drafted by:   
Jack Johnston  
Assistant City Administrator/Community Development Director 
P.O. Box 107 
128 Smith St 
Plymouth, WI 53073 

Page 33 of 84



City of Plymouth
128 Smith St. - P.O. Box 107
Plymouth, WI  53073-0107

Telephone: (920) 893-3745
Facsimile: (920) 893-0183

     Web Site:        plymouthgov.com

DATE: May 28, 2025

TO: Plan Commission

FROM: Tim Blakeslee, City Administrator/Utilities Manager

RE: Consideration of the Creation of Tax Incremental District No. 8 and Review of its 
Project Plan

Background: Tax Incremental Financing (TIF) is one of the 
most important tools available to Wisconsin municipalities to 
promote economic development and redevelopment. 
Through TIF, a municipality can use the increased property 
taxes generated within a designated Tax Incremental District 
(TID) to finance public improvements, property acquisition, 
and other eligible costs necessary to support development 
that would not otherwise occur. For a general overview of 
TIF, visit:https://www.ehlers-inc.com/wp-
content/uploads/2023/02/Wisconsin-TID-101-2023-REV-
2023-02-06-.pdf. Plymouth currently has three districts: TID 
#5, TID #6, and TID #7, which can be seen pictured to the 
right.

The City is proposing the creation of TID #8, designated as a 
Rehabilitation District. This district will encompass the 
downtown Laack Block redevelopment area and adjacent 
properties. It is designed to support a mix of public 
improvements including a redesigned/rebuilt parking lot, 
infrastructure upgrades, property acquisition, legal and 
engineering services, financing, and adm inistrative costs. 
The TID#8 project plan is included as Attachment 1. Ehlers, 
the City’s Financial Advisors, will present the plan and 
answer questions at the meeting.

The hotel and related improvements are projected to add 
approximately $6.5 million in new increment value to the 
district. As required by state law, the “but for” test has been 
applied, indicating that this development as presnted, 
including the parking lot improvements, would not occur 
without the support of TIF. The City is also in a the process 
of finalizing a development agreement with the Laack Block 
Team to ensure required new valuation to implement the 
project plan is created.

Proposed TID#8

Page 34 of 84



 
 
 
Strategic Plan Alignment: 
TID #8 advances key goals from the City’s 2023–2026 Strategic Plan: 

 Outcome: Expanded Economic Development 
 Outcome: TIF District Utilization Expanded 

 
Timeline: 
The Joint Review Board will meet the morning of June 5 to review the project plan and provide 
feedback prior to the Plan Commission’s formal public hearing and consideration. Staff will 
provide a summary of the Joint Review Board comments at the Plan Commission meeting. The 
Common Council is scheduled to consider TID#8 on June 24, 2025. If the district moves 
forward, the Joint Review Board would be scheduled to reconvene after Council consideration 
for final approval.   
 
Staff Recommendation: Approve the resolution establishing the boundaries of and approving 
the project plan for Tax Incremental District No. 8. 

Attachments: 
 Resolution 
 Project Plan  
 Parking Lot Draft 

 
 

Page 35 of 84



City of Plymouth, Wisconsin Tax Incremental District No. 8 Plan Commission Resolution 
 

RESOLUTION NO. 1-2025-PC 
 

RESOLUTION ESTABLISHING THE BOUNDARIES OF AND APPROVING THE PROJECT PLAN FOR 
TAX INCREMENTAL DISTRICT NO. 8 

 
WHEREAS, the City of Plymouth (the “City”) has determined that use of Tax Incremental Financing 

is required to promote development and redevelopment within the City; and 
 
WHEREAS, Tax Incremental District No. 8 (the “District”) is proposed to be created by the City in 

accordance with the provisions of Wisconsin Statutes Section 66.1105 (the "Tax Increment Law"); and 
 
WHEREAS, a Project Plan for the District has been prepared that includes:  
a. A statement listing of the kind, number and location of all proposed public works or 

improvements within the District, or to the extent provided in Wisconsin Statutes Sections 
66.1105(2)(f)1.k. and 66.1105(2)(f)1.n., outside of the District; 

b. An economic feasibility study; 
c. A detailed list of estimated project costs; 
d. A description of the methods of financing all estimated project costs and the time when the 

related costs or monetary obligations are to be incurred; 
e. A map showing existing uses and conditions of real property in the District; 
f. A map showing proposed improvements and uses in the District; 
g. Proposed changes of zoning ordinances, master plan, map, building codes and City 

ordinances; 
h. A list of estimated non-project costs; 
i. A statement of the proposed plan for relocation of any persons to be displaced; 
j. A statement indicating how the District promotes the orderly development of the City; 
k. An opinion of the City Attorney or of an attorney retained by the City advising that the plan is 

complete and complies with Wisconsin Statutes Section 66.1105(4)(f); and 
 
WHEREAS, prior to its publication, a copy of the notice of public hearing was sent to the chief 

executive officers of Sheboygan County, the Plymouth Joint School District and the Lakeshore Technical 
College District, and any other entities having the power to levy taxes on property located within the 
District, in accordance with the procedures specified in the Tax Increment Law; and 

 
WHEREAS, prior to its publication, a copy of the notice of public hearing was also sent to the to 

owners of all property in the proposed District; and 
 
WHEREAS, in accordance with the procedures specified in the Tax Increment Law, the Plan 

Commission, on June 5, 2025 held a public hearing concerning the proposed creation of the District, its 
proposed boundaries and its proposed Project Plan, providing interested parties a reasonable opportunity 
to express their views thereon. 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Plan Commission of the City of Plymouth that: 

 
1. It recommends to the Common Council that Tax Incremental District No. 8 be created with 

boundaries as designated in Exhibit A of this Resolution. 
 

Page 36 of 84



City of Plymouth, Wisconsin Tax Incremental District No. 8 Plan Commission Resolution 
 

2. It approves and adopts the Project Plan for the District, attached as Exhibit B, and 
recommends its approval to the Common Council. 

 
3. Creation of the District promotes orderly development in the City. 
 

 
Adopted this _____ day of _______________, 2025. 
 
 
 
       
Plan Commission Chair 
 
 
 
       
Secretary of the Plan Commission 

Page 37 of 84



June 5, 2025

PROJECT PLAN

City of Plymouth, 
Wisconsin

Tax Incremental District No. 8

PPreparedd by:: 

Ehlers 
N19W24400 Riverwood Drive,
Suite 100
Waukesha, WI 53188

BUILDING COMMUNITIES. IT’S WHAT WE DO.

Page 38 of 84



Tax Incremental District No. 8 Project Plan  City of Plymouth 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 2 

KEY DATES 
 

Organizational Joint Review Board Meeting Held: 

 

Scheduled for June 5, 2025 

Public Hearing Held: Scheduled for June 5, 2025 

Action by Plan Commission: Scheduled for June 5, 2025 

Action by Common Council: Scheduled for June 24, 2025 

Action by the Joint Review Board: Scheduled for TBD 
 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 

Executive Summary ....................................................................................................................................3 
Preliminary Map of Proposed District Boundary ......................................................................... 6 
Map Showing Existing Uses and Conditions .................................................................................. 8 
Preliminary Parcel List and Analysis ................................................................................................. 10 
Equalized Value Test ................................................................................................................................. 11 
Statement Listing the Kind, Number and Location of All Proposed Public Works or 
Improvements Within the District ..................................................................................................... 12 
Map Showing Proposed Improvements and Uses ...................................................................... 19 
Detailed List of Estimated Project Costs ....................................................................................... 23 
Economic Feasibility Study, Description of the Methods of Financing Estimated 
Project Costs and the Time When Related Costs or Monetary Obligations are to be 
Incurred ......................................................................................................................................................... 24 
Annexed Property..................................................................................................................................... 29 
Estimate of Property to Be Devoted to Retail Business ........................................................ 29 
Proposed Changes of Zoning Ordinances, Master Plan, Map, Building Codes and 
City Ordinances ......................................................................................................................................... 29 
Statement of the Proposed Method for the Relocation of any Persons to be 
Displaced ......................................................................................................................................................30 
How Creation of the Tax Incremental District Promotes the Orderly Development 
of the City .....................................................................................................................................................30 
List of Estimated Non-Project Costs................................................................................................. 31 
Legal Opinion Advising Whether the Plan is Complete and Complies with Wis. Stat. 
§ 66.1105(4)(f) ............................................................................................................................................ 32 
Calculation of the Share of Projected Tax Increments Estimated to be Paid by the 
Owners of Property in the Overlying Taxing Jurisdictions ................................................... 34 
 

Page 39 of 84



Tax Incremental District No. 8 Project Plan  City of Plymouth 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 3 

SECTION 1: 
Executive Summary 

DESCRIPTION OF DISTRICT 
Tax Incremental District (“TID”) No. 8 (“District”) is a proposed In Need of 
Rehabilitation or Conservation District comprising approximately 9.84 acres 
located along E. Mill and Stafford Street. The District will be created to pay the 
costs of acquisition of property, rights of way or easements, site preparation, 
installation or rehabilitation of utilities and streets, payment of cash grants as 
development incentives to owners, lessees, or developers of land located within 
the District (“Project”) to be developed by LAG Family, LCC (“Developer”).  

AUTHORITY 
The City is creating the District under the provisions of Wis. Stat. § 66.1105.  

ESTIMATED TOTAL PROJECT COST EXPENDITURES 
The City anticipates making total expenditures of approximately $7,155,576 
(“Project Costs”) to undertake the projects listed in this Project Plan (“Plan”). 
Project Costs include an estimated $3,386,876 for principal and interest on long 
term debt, $54,212 in financing costs, $350,000 or developer improved ROW, 
$85,000 in development incentives, $2,350,000 in public infrastructure costs, 
$170,000 in ongoing planning and administration costs, and $759,488 in 
reimbursements to the City for advances from other funds.  

INCREMENTAL VALUATION 
The City projects that new land and improvements value of approximately 
$6,500,000 will result from the Project. Creation of this additional value will be 
made possible by the Project Costs made within the District. A table detailing 
assumptions as to the development timing and associated values is included in 
the Economic Feasibility Study located within this Plan. 

EXPECTED TERMINATION OF DISTRICT  
Based on the Economic Feasibility Study located within Section 9 of this Plan, 
the City anticipates that the District will generate sufficient tax increment to 
pay all Project Costs within 27 of its allowable 27 years. 

SUMMARY OF FINDINGS 
As required by Wis. Stat. § 66.1105, and as documented in this Plan and the 
exhibits contained and referenced herein, the following findings are made: 

1. That “but for” the creation of this District, the development projected to 
occur as detailed in this Plan: 1) would not occur; or 2) would not occur in 

Page 40 of 84



Tax Incremental District No. 8 Project Plan  City of Plymouth 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 4 

the manner, at the values, or within the timeframe desired by the City. In 
reaching this determination, the City has considered: 

The substantial investment needed to provide the public infrastructure 
necessary to allow for development within the District. Absent the use of tax 
incremental financing, the City is unable to fully fund this program of 
infrastructure improvements. 

2. The economic benefits of the District, as measured by increased 
employment, business and personal income, and property value, are 
sufficient to compensate for the cost of the improvements. In making this 
determination, the City has considered the following information: 

That the Developer is likely to purchase goods and services from local 
suppliers in construction of the Project, and induced effects of employee 
households spending locally for goods and services from retailers, 
restaurants and service companies. 

3. The benefits of the proposal outweigh the anticipated tax increments to be 
paid by the owners of property in the overlying taxing jurisdictions. As 
required by Wis. Stat. § 66.1105(4)(i)4., a calculation of the share of 
projected tax increments estimated to be paid by the owners of property in 
the overlying taxing jurisdictions has been prepared and can be found in this 
Plan. However, because the Project would not occur without the use of tax 
incremental financing, these tax increments would not be paid but for 
creation of the District. Accordingly, the City finds that the benefits 
expected to be realized as set forth in this Plan outweigh the value of the 
tax increments to be invested in the Project. 

4. Not less than 50% by area of the real property within the District is in need 
of rehabilitation or conservation work as defined by Wis. Stat. § 
66.1337(2m)(a). 

5. Based on the foregoing finding, the District is designated as a district in need 
of rehabilitation or conservation. 

6. The Project Costs relate directly to the rehabilitation or conservation of 
property and improvements in the District, consistent with the purpose for 
which the District is created.  

7. Improvements to be made in the District are likely to significantly enhance 
the value of substantially all of the other real property in the District.  

8. The equalized value of taxable property in the District, plus the incremental 
value of all existing tax incremental districts within the City does not exceed 
12% of the total equalized value of taxable property within the City.  

Page 41 of 84



Tax Incremental District No. 8 Project Plan  City of Plymouth 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 5 

9. The City estimates that less than 35% of the territory within the District will 
be devoted to retail business at the end of the District’s maximum 
expenditure period, pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 66.1105(5)(b).  

10. That there are no parcels to be included within the District that were 
annexed by the City within the preceding three-year period.  

11. The Plan for the District is feasible and is in conformity with the Master Plan 
of the City.  

Page 42 of 84



SECTION 2: 
Preliminary Map of Proposed District Boundary 

Map Found on Following Page. 

To the extent District boundaries include wetlands identified on a map 
prepared under Wis. Stat. § 23.32, the wetlands are excluded from the District. 

  

Page 43 of 84



Tax Incremental District No. 8 Project Plan  City of Plymouth 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 7 

  

Page 44 of 84



Tax Incremental District No. 8 Project Plan  City of Plymouth 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 8 

SECTION 3:  
Map Showing Existing Uses and Conditions 

Map Found on Following Page. 

  

Page 45 of 84



Tax Incremental District No. 8 Project Plan  City of Plymouth 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 9 

  

Page 46 of 84



Tax Incremental District No. 8 Project Plan  City of Plymouth 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 10 

SECTION 4:  
Preliminary Parcel List and Analysis 

 

 

 

  
0.00 0.00 

N/A ROW Areas 1.15
1 59271802460 0.18 0.18 Condition 1

2 59271802470 0.13 0.13 Condition 1

3 59271803870 0.13 0.13 Condition 1

4 59271803890 0.06 0.06 Condition 1

5 �90512760 0.14 0.18 Condition 1

6 59271812500 0.00 0.36 Condition 1

7 59271812350 0.01 0.01 Condition 1

8 59271803880 0.16 0.16 Condition 1

9 59271802480 0.10 0.10 Condition 1

10 59271802490 0.21 0.21 Condition 1

11 59271802510 0.21 0.21 Condition 1

12 59271802520 0.22 0.22 Condition 1

13 59271812360 0.02 0.02 Condition 1

14 59271802530 0.24 0.09 Condition 1

15 59271802540 0.20 0.20 Condition 1

16 59271802550 0.21 0.21 Condition 1

17 59271802560 0.35 0.35 Condition 1

18 59271802590 0.23 0.23 Condition 1

19 59271802600 0.25 0.25 Condition 1

20 59271812410 0.03 0.03 Condition 1

21 59271812420 0.04 0.04 Condition 1

22 59271802610 0.32 0.32 Condition 1

23 59271802620 0.06 0.06 Condition 1

24 90512242 1.36
25 59271802641 0.51
26 59271812431 1.16
27 59271803390 1.18 1.18 Condition 1

28 59271822200 1.74 1.74 Condition 1

TTOTALS 10.59 6.66

63%

37%

RRehab/ 
Conservation 

Condition

Existing TID Area

RRehab/ 
Conservation

Designated Acres
Map 

Reference 
Number

Parcel Number Acres

Percentage of TID Area Designated as in Need of Rehabilitation or 
Conservation (at least 50%)

Percentage of TID Area Not Designated as in Need of Rehabilitation 
or Conservation

Page 47 of 84



Tax Incremental District No. 8 Project Plan  City of Plymouth 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 11 

SECTION 5:  
Equalized Value Test 

The following calculations demonstrate that the City expects to be in 
compliance with Wis. Stat. § 66.1105(4)(gm)4.c., which requires that the 
equalized value of the taxable property in the proposed District, plus the value 
increment of all existing tax incremental districts, does not exceed 12% of the 
total equalized value of taxable property within the City. The value of those 
parcels located within Tax Incremental District No. 8 that will be overlapped are 
not included in the base value of the District as that value is reflected within the 
total of existing incremental value. 

The equalized value of the increment of existing tax incremental districts within 
the City, plus the base value of the proposed District, totals $$33,402,700. This 
value is less than the maximum of $139,405,260 in equalized value that is 
permitted for the City. 

 

CCalculation of City Equalized Value Limit

City TID IN Equalized Value (Jan. 1, 2024) 1,161,710,500$        

TID Valuation Limit @ 12% of Above Value 139,405,260$       

Calculation of Value Subject to Limit

Estimated Base Value of Territory to be Included in District 4,085,300$           

Plus: Assumed change for Jan. 1, 2025 assessment -$                     

Incremental Value of Existing Districts (Jan. 1, 2024) 31,542,600$          

Less: Value of Parcels Removed from District -$                     

Less: Value of Underlying TID Parcels (2,225,200)$          

Total Value Subject to 12% Valuation Limit 33,402,700$        

Total Percentage of TID IN Equalized Value 2.88%

Residual Value Capacity of TID IN Equalized Value 106,002,560$       

Valuation Test Compliance Calculation

City of Plymouth, Wisconsin
Tax Increment District No. 8

Page 48 of 84



Tax Incremental District No. 8 Project Plan  City of Plymouth 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 12 

SECTION 6:  
Statement Listing the Kind, Number and Location of All 
Proposed Public Works or Improvements Within the 
District 

Project Costs are any expenditure made, estimated to be made, or monetary 
obligations incurred or estimated to be incurred as outlined in this Plan. Project 
Costs will be diminished by any income, special assessments or other revenues, 
including user fees or charges, other than tax increments, received or 
reasonably expected to be received in connection with the implementation of 
the Plan. If Project Costs incurred benefit territory outside the District, a 
proportionate share of the cost is not a Project Cost. Costs identified in this 
Plan are preliminary estimates made prior to design considerations and are 
subject to change after planning, design and construction is completed. 

With all Project Costs, the costs of engineering, design, survey, inspection, 
materials, construction, restoring property to its original condition, apparatus 
necessary for public works, legal and other consultant fees, testing, 
environmental studies, permits, updating City ordinances and plans, judgments 
or claims for damages and other expenses are included as Project Costs. 

The following is a list of public works and other tax incremental financing 
eligible Project Costs that the City expects to make, or may need to make, in 
conjunction with the implementation of the District’s Plan. The map found in 
Section 7 of this Plan along with the Detailed List of Project Costs found in 
Section 8 provide additional information as to the kind, number and location of 
potential Project Costs. 

Property, Right-of-Way and Easement Acquisition 

Property Acquisition for Development 

To promote and facilitate development the City may acquire property within 
the District. The cost of property acquired, and any costs associated with the 
transaction, are eligible Project Costs. Following acquisition, other Project 
Costs within the categories detailed in this Section may be incurred to make 
the property suitable for development. Any revenue received by the City from 
the sale of property acquired pursuant to the execution of this Plan will be used 
to reduce the total project costs of the District. If total Project Costs incurred 
by the City to acquire property and make it suitable for development exceed 
the revenues or other consideration received from the sale or lease of that 
property, the net amount shall be considered “real property assembly costs” as 

Page 49 of 84



Tax Incremental District No. 8 Project Plan  City of Plymouth 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 13 

defined in Wis. Stat. § 66.1105(2)(f)1.c., and subject to recovery as an eligible 
Project Cost. 

Property Acquisition for Conservancy 

To promote the objectives of this Plan, the City may acquire property within 
the District that it will designate for conservancy. These conservancy objectives 
include: preserving historic resources or sensitive natural features; protection 
of scenic and historic views; maintaining habitat for wildlife; maintaining 
adequate open space; reduction of erosion and sedimentation by preserving 
existing vegetation; and providing adequate areas for management of 
stormwater. The cost of property acquired for conservancy, and any costs 
associated with the transaction, are eligible Project Costs. 

Acquisition of Rights-of-Way 

The City may need to acquire property to allow for installation of streets, 
driveways, sidewalks, utilities, stormwater management practices and other 
public infrastructure. Costs incurred by the City to identify, negotiate and 
acquire rights-of-way are eligible Project Costs. 

Acquisition of Easements 

The City may need to acquire temporary or permanent easements to allow for 
installation and maintenance of streets, driveways, sidewalks, utilities, 
stormwater management practices and other public infrastructure. Costs 
incurred by the City to identify, negotiate and acquire easement rights are 
eligible Project Costs. 

Relocation Costs 

If relocation expenses are incurred in conjunction with the acquisition of 
property, those expenses are eligible Project Costs. These costs may include, 
but are not limited to: preparation of a relocation plan; allocations of staff time; 
legal fees; publication of notices; obtaining appraisals; and payment of 
relocation benefits as required by Wis. Stat. Chapter 32 and Wis. Admin. Code 
ADM 92. 

Site Preparation Activities 

Environmental Audits and Remediation 

If it becomes necessary to evaluate any land or improvement within the District, 
any cost incurred by the City related to environmental audits, testing, and 
remediation are eligible Project Costs. 

Demolition 

Page 50 of 84



Tax Incremental District No. 8 Project Plan  City of Plymouth 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 14 

To make sites suitable for development, the City may incur costs related to 
demolition and removal of structures or other land improvements, to include 
abandonment of wells or other existing utility services. 

Site Grading 

Land within the District may require grading to make it suitable for 
development, to provide access, and to control stormwater runoff. The City 
may need to remove and dispose of excess material, or bring in fill material to 
provide for proper site elevations. Expenses incurred by the City for site 
grading are eligible Project Costs. 

Utilities 

Sanitary Sewer System Improvements 

To allow development to occur, the City may need to construct, alter, rebuild 
or expand sanitary sewer infrastructure within the District. Eligible Project 
Costs include, but are not limited to, construction, alteration, rebuilding or 
expansion of: collection mains; manholes and cleanouts; service laterals; force 
mains; interceptor sewers; pumping stations; lift stations; wastewater treatment 
facilities; and all related appurtenances. To the extent sanitary sewer projects 
undertaken within the District provide direct benefit to land outside of the 
District, the City will make an allocation of costs based on such benefit. Those 
costs corresponding to the benefit allocated to land within the District, and 
necessitated by the implementation of the Project Plan, are eligible Project 
Costs. Implementation of the Project Plan may also require that the City 
construct, alter, rebuild or expand sanitary sewer infrastructure located outside 
of the District. That portion of the costs of sanitary sewer system projects 
undertaken outside the District which are necessitated by the implementation 
of the Project Plan are eligible Project Costs.  

Water System Improvements 

To allow development to occur, the City may need to construct, alter, rebuild 
or expand water system infrastructure within the District. Eligible Project Costs 
include, but are not limited to, construction, alteration, rebuilding or expansion 
of: distribution mains; manholes and valves; hydrants; service laterals; pumping 
stations; wells; water treatment facilities; storage tanks and reservoirs; and all 
related appurtenances. To the extent water system projects undertaken within 
the District provide direct benefit to land outside of the District, the City will 
make an allocation of costs based on such benefit. Those costs corresponding 
to the benefit allocated to land within the District, and necessitated by the 
implementation of the Project Plan, are eligible Project Costs. Implementation 
of the Project Plan may also require that the City construct, alter, rebuild or 

Page 51 of 84



Tax Incremental District No. 8 Project Plan  City of Plymouth 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 15 

expand water system infrastructure located outside of the District. That portion 
of the costs of water system projects undertaken outside the District which are 
necessitated by the implementation of the Project Plan are eligible Project 
Costs. 

Stormwater Management System Improvements 

Development within the District will cause stormwater runoff. To manage this 
stormwater runoff, the City may need to construct, alter, rebuild or expand 
stormwater management infrastructure within the District. Eligible Project 
Costs include, but are not limited to, construction, alteration, rebuilding or 
expansion of: stormwater collection mains; inlets, manholes and valves; service 
laterals; ditches; culvert pipes; box culverts; bridges; stabilization of stream and 
river banks; and infiltration, filtration and detention Best Management Practices 
(BMP’s). To the extent stormwater management system projects undertaken 
within the District provide direct benefit to land outside of the District, the City 
will make an allocation of costs based on such benefit. Those costs 
corresponding to the benefit allocated to land within the District, and 
necessitated by the implementation of the Project Plan, are eligible Project 
Costs. Implementation of the Project Plan may also require that the City 
construct, alter, rebuild or expand stormwater management infrastructure 
located outside of the District. That portion of the costs of stormwater 
management system projects undertaken outside the District which are 
necessitated by the implementation of the Project Plan are eligible Project 
Costs. 

Electric Service 

To create sites suitable for development, the City may incur costs to provide, 
relocate or upgrade electric services. Relocation may require abandonment and 
removal of existing poles or towers, installation of new poles or towers, or 
burying of overhead electric lines. Costs incurred by the City to undertake this 
work are eligible Project Costs. 

Gas Service 

To create sites suitable for development, the City may incur costs to provide, 
relocate or upgrade gas mains and services. Costs incurred by the City to 
undertake this work are eligible Project Costs. 

Communications Infrastructure 

To create sites suitable for development, the City may incur costs to provide, 
relocate or upgrade infrastructure required for voice and data communications, 

Page 52 of 84



Tax Incremental District No. 8 Project Plan  City of Plymouth 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 16 

including, but not limited to: telephone lines, cable lines and fiber optic cable. 
Costs incurred by the City to undertake this work are eligible Project Costs. 

Streets and Streetscape 

Street Improvements 

To allow development to occur, the City may need to construct or reconstruct 
streets, highways, alleys, access drives and parking areas. Eligible Project Costs 
include, but are not limited to: excavation; removal or placement of fill; 
construction of road base; asphalt or concrete paving or repaving; installation 
of curb and gutter; installation of sidewalks and bicycle lanes; installation of 
culverts, box culverts and bridges; rail crossings and signals; utility relocation, 
to include burying overhead utility lines; street lighting; installation of traffic 
control signage and traffic signals; pavement marking; right-of-way restoration; 
installation of retaining walls; and installation of fences, berms, and landscaping. 

Streetscaping and Landscaping 

To attract development consistent with the objectives of this Plan, the City may 
install amenities to enhance development sites, rights-of-way and other public 
spaces. These amenities include, but are not limited to: landscaping; lighting of 
streets, sidewalks, parking areas and public areas; installation of planters, 
benches, clocks, tree rings, trash receptacles and similar items; and installation 
of brick or other decorative walks, terraces and street crossings. These and any 
other similar amenities installed by the City are eligible Project Costs. 

Community Development 

Cash Grants (Development Incentives)  

The City may enter into agreements with property owners, lessees, or 
developers of land located within the District for sharing costs to encourage 
the desired kind of improvements and assure tax base is generated sufficient 
to recover Project Costs. No cash grants will be provided until the City executes 
a developer agreement with the recipient of the cash grant. Any payments of 
cash grants made by the City are eligible Project Costs. 

Contribution to Redevelopment Authority (RDA) 

As provided for in Wis. Stat. § 66.1105(2)(f)1.h and Wis. Stat. § 66.1333(13), the 
City may provide funds to its RDA to be used for administration, planning 
operations, and capital costs, including but not limited to real property 
acquisition, related to the purposes for which it was established in furtherance 
of any redevelopment or urban renewal project. Funds provided to the RDA for 
this purpose are eligible Project Costs. 

Page 53 of 84



Tax Incremental District No. 8 Project Plan  City of Plymouth 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 17 

Revolving Loan/Grant Program (Development Incentives) 

To encourage private development consistent with the objectives of this Plan, 
the City, through its RDA, may provide loans or grants to eligible property 
owners in the District. Eligible improvements will be those that are likely to 
improve the value of the property, enhance the visual appearance of the 
property and surrounding area, correct safety deficiencies, or as otherwise 
specified by the RDA in the program manual. Any funds returned to the RDA 
from the repayment of loans made are not considered revenues to the District, 
and will not be used to offset District Project Costs. Instead, these funds may 
be placed into a revolving fund and will continue to be used for the program 
purposes stated above. Any funds provided to the RDA for purposes of 
implementing this program are considered eligible Project Costs. 

Miscellaneous 

Rail Spur 

To allow for development, the City may incur costs for installation of a rail spur 
or other railway improvements to serve development sites located within the 
District. 

Projects Outside the Tax Increment District 

Pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 66.1105(2)(f)1.n, the City may undertake projects within 
territory located within one-half mile of the boundary of the District provided 
that: 1) the project area is located within the City’s corporate boundaries; and 
2) the projects are approved by the Joint Review Board. The cost of projects 
completed outside the District pursuant to this section are eligible project 
costs, and may include any project cost that would otherwise be eligible if 
undertaken within the District. The City intends to make the following project 
cost expenditures outside the District: 

 Stafford Street Infrastructure - $50,000 
 Stafford Street Bridge - $250,000 

 Professional Service and Organizational Costs 

The costs of professional services rendered, and other costs incurred, in relation 
to the creation, administration and termination of the District, and the 
undertaking of the projects contained within this Plan, are eligible Project Costs. 
Professional services include but are not limited to: architectural; 
environmental; planning; engineering; legal; audit; financial; and the costs of 
informing the public with respect to the creation of the District and the 
implementation of the Plan. 

Page 54 of 84



Tax Incremental District No. 8 Project Plan  City of Plymouth 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 18 

Administrative Costs 

The City may charge to the District as eligible Project Costs reasonable 
allocations of administrative costs, including, but not limited to, employee 
salaries. Costs allocated will bear a direct connection to the time spent by City 
employees relating to the implementation of the Plan. 

Financing Costs 

Interest expense, debt issuance expenses, redemption premiums, and any other 
fees and costs incurred in conjunction with obtaining financing for projects 
undertaken under this Plan are eligible Project Costs. 

 

  

Page 55 of 84



Tax Incremental District No. 8 Project Plan  City of Plymouth 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 19 

SECTION 7:  
Map Showing Proposed Improvements and Uses 

Map Found on Following Page. 

  

Page 56 of 84



Tax Incremental District No. 8 Project Plan  City of Plymouth 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 20 

 

Page 57 of 84



Page 58 of 84



Page 59 of 84



SECTION 8:  
Detailed List of Estimated Project Costs 

The following list identifies the Project Costs that the City currently expects to 
incur in implementing the District’s Plan. All projects identified and related costs 
reflect the best estimates available as of the date of preparation of this Plan. All 
costs are preliminary estimates and may increase or decrease. Certain Project 
Costs listed may become unnecessary, and other Project Costs not currently 
identified may need to be made. (Section 6 details the general categories of 
eligible Project Costs). Changes in Project Cost totals or the types of Project 
Costs to be incurred will not require that this Plan be amended. This Plan is not 
meant to be a budget nor an appropriation of funds for specific Project Costs, 
but a framework within which to manage Project Costs. 

 

 

 

 

  

Project Name/Type 2026 Future Ongoing Totals 1/2 Mile

Parking Lot Resurfacing 1,250,000     1,250,000
Property Acquision 200,000         200,000
Developer ROW Investment 350,000         350,000
Stafford Street Infrastructure 50,000           50,000 50,000
Legal and Engineering 450,000         450,000
Stafford Street Bridge 250,000 250,000 250,000
Interest on Long Term Debt 1,232,896 1,232,896
Financing Costs 62,907 62,907
Ongoing Planning & Administrative Costs 170,000 170,000

Total Projects 2,362,907 250,000 1,402,896 4,015,803 300,000

Notes:
1. Stafford Street Bridge is shows as an eligible project cost, but not included in the cashflow model at this time.  

City of Plymouth, Wisconsin
Tax Increment District No. 8

Detailed List of Estimated Project Costs

Est. Cost

Page 60 of 84



Tax Incremental District No. 8 Project Plan  City of Plymouth 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 24 

SECTION 9:  
Economic Feasibility Study, Description of the Methods 
of Financing Estimated Project Costs and the Time When 
Related Costs or Monetary Obligations are to be Incurred 

This Section includes a forecast of the valuation increases expected within the 
District, the associated tax increment collections, a summary of how Project 
Costs would be financed, and a projected cash flow demonstrating that the 
District is economically feasible. 

KKey Assumptions 

The Project Costs the City plans to make are expected to create $6.5 million in 
incremental value by 2027. Estimated valuations and timing for construction of 
the Project are included in TTable 1. Assuming the City’s current equalized TID 
Interim tax rate of $14.89 per thousand of equalized value, declining -0.50% 
annually, and economic appreciation of 0.75% annually the Project would 
generate $2,529,520 in incremental tax revenue over the  27-year term of the 
District as shown in TTable 2. 

 

Table 1 – Development Assumptions 

 

 

Annual Total

1 2025 0 2025 1
2 2026 3,500,000 3,500,000 2026 2
3 2027 3,000,000 3,000,000 2027 3
4 2028 0 2028 4
5 2029 0 2029 5

Totals 6,500,000 6,500,000

Construction 
Year

Construction 
Year

City of Plymouth, Wisconsin
Tax Increment District No. 8

Development Assumptions

Laack Block 
Hotel

Page 61 of 84



Tax Incremental District No. 8 Project Plan  City of Plymouth 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 25 

Table 2 – Tax Increment Projection Worksheet 

Type of District Base Value 4,085,300
District Creation Date Economic Change Factor 0.75%

Valuation Date Jan 1, 2025 Apply to Base Value
Max Life (Years) Base Tax Rate $14.97

Expenditure Period/Termination 22 6/24/2047 Rate Adjustment Factor -0.50%
Revenue Periods/Final Year 27 2053

Extension Eligibility/Years Yes 3
Eligible Recipient District

Construction 
Year Value Added

Valuation 
Year

Economic 
Change

Total 
Increment

Revenue 
Year Tax Rate1 Tax Increment

1 2025 0 2026 0 0 2027 $14.89 0
2 2026 3,500,000 2027 0 3,500,000 2028 $14.82 51,856
3 2027 3,000,000 2028 26,250 6,526,250 2029 $14.74 96,209
4 2028 0 2029 48,947 6,575,197 2030 $14.67 96,446
5 2029 0 2030 49,314 6,624,511 2031 $14.59 96,684
6 2030 0 2031 49,684 6,674,195 2032 $14.52 96,922
7 2031 0 2032 50,056 6,724,251 2033 $14.45 97,160
8 2032 0 2033 50,432 6,774,683 2034 $14.38 97,400
9 2033 0 2034 50,810 6,825,493 2035 $14.31 97,639

10 2034 0 2035 51,191 6,876,684 2036 $14.23 97,880
11 2035 0 2036 51,575 6,928,259 2037 $14.16 98,121
12 2036 0 2037 51,962 6,980,221 2038 $14.09 98,363
13 2037 0 2038 52,352 7,032,573 2039 $14.02 98,605
14 2038 0 2039 52,744 7,085,317 2040 $13.95 98,848
15 2039 0 2040 53,140 7,138,457 2041 $13.88 99,091
16 2040 0 2041 53,538 7,191,996 2042 $13.81 99,335
17 2041 0 2042 53,940 7,245,936 2043 $13.74 99,580
18 2042 0 2043 54,345 7,300,280 2044 $13.67 99,825
19 2043 0 2044 54,752 7,355,032 2045 $13.61 100,071
20 2044 0 2045 55,163 7,410,195 2046 $13.54 100,317
21 2045 0 2046 55,576 7,465,771 2047 $13.47 100,564
22 2046 0 2047 55,993 7,521,765 2048 $13.40 100,812
23 2047 0 2048 56,413 7,578,178 2049 $13.34 101,060
24 2048 0 2049 56,836 7,635,014 2050 $13.27 101,309
25 2049 0 2050 57,263 7,692,277 2051 $13.20 101,558
26 2050 0 2051 57,692 7,749,969 2052 $13.14 101,808
27 2051 0 2052 58,125 7,808,094 2053 $13.07 102,059

Totals 6,500,000 1,308,094 Future Value of Increment 2,529,520

Notes:
1) Tax rate shown is actual 2024/2025 rate per DOR Form PC-202 (Tax Increment Collection Worksheet).

Rehabilitation
June 24, 2025

27

Yes

City of Plymouth, Wisconsin
Tax Increment District No. 8

Tax Increment Projection Worksheet

Page 62 of 84



Tax Incremental District No. 8 Project Plan  City of Plymouth 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 26 

FFinancing and Implementation 

Major project costs (public infrastructure) will be financed with long term debt.  
Advances from other funds, property tax support, and room tax fund support 
may also be used to finance public infrastructure costs. Table 3. provides a 
summary of the District’s financing plan. 

 

Table 3 – Financing Plan 

 

 

 

  

G.O. 
Promissory 

Note
2025

Projects
Parking Lot 2,150,000

Total Project Funds 2,150,000

Estimated Finance Related Expenses 54,212

Total Financing Required 2,204,212

Estimated Interest 4.39% (23,596)
Assumed spend down (months) 3

Rounding (616)

Net Issue Size 2,180,000

City of Plymouth, Wisconsin
Tax Increment District No. 8

Estimated Financing Plan

DEBT ISSUE

Page 63 of 84



B
as

ed
 o

n
 t

h
e 

P
ro

je
ct

 C
o

st
 e

xp
en

d
it

u
re

s 
as

 i
n

cl
u

d
ed

 w
it

h
in

 t
h

e 
ca

sh
 f

lo
w

 e
xh

ib
it

 ((
T

ab
le

 4
),

 t
h

e 
D

is
tr

ic
t 

is
 p

ro
je

ct
ed

 t
o

 a
cc

u
m

u
la

te
 s

u
ff

ic
ie

n
t 

fu
n

d
s 

b
y 

th
e 

ye
ar

 2
0

53
 t

o
 p

ay
 o

ff
 a

ll 
P

ro
je

ct
 c

o
st

 li
ab

ili
ti

es
 a

n
d

 o
b

lig
at

io
n

s.
 T

h
e 

p
ro

je
ct

ed
 c

lo
su

re
 is

 b
as

ed
 o

n
 t

h
e 

va
ri

o
u

s 
as

su
m

p
ti

o
n

s 
n

o
te

d
 in

 t
h

is
 P

la
n

 a
n

d
 w

ill
 v

ar
y 

d
ep

en
d

en
t 

o
n

 a
ct

u
al

 P
ro

je
ct

 C
o

st
s 

in
cu

rr
ed

 a
n

d
 t

h
e 

ac
tu

al
 a

m
o

un
t 

o
f 

ta
x 

in
cr

em
en

ts
 c

o
lle

ct
ed

. 

 

Ta
b

le
 4

 –
 C

as
h 

Fl
o

w
 

$2
,1

80
,0

00
Ye

ar
Is

su
e 

To
ta

l
Ye

ar

20
25

20
,0

00
20

,0
00

0
20

,0
00

20
,0

00
0

0
0

20
25

20
26

35
5,

00
0

32
6,

94
5

2,
20

4,
21

2
2,

88
6,

15
7

12
6,

94
5

35
0,

00
0

2,
35

0,
00

0
54

,2
12

5,
00

0
2,

88
6,

15
7

0
0

2,
18

0,
00

0
20

26
20

27
0

5,
00

0
10

6,
44

2
11

1,
44

2
10

6,
44

2
5,

00
0

11
1,

44
2

0
0

2,
16

5,
00

0
20

27
20

28
51

,8
56

59
,0

59
17

,0
00

12
7,

91
5

10
5,

91
5

17
,0

00
5,

00
0

12
7,

91
5

0
0

2,
15

0,
00

0
20

28
20

29
96

,2
09

48
,5

41
17

,0
00

16
1,

75
0

13
9,

75
0

17
,0

00
5,

00
0

16
1,

75
0

0
0

2,
10

0,
00

0
20

29
20

30
96

,4
46

90
,6

60
17

,0
00

20
4,

10
6

18
2,

10
7

17
,0

00
5,

00
0

20
4,

10
7

(1
)

(0
)

2,
00

5,
00

0
20

30
20

31
96

,6
84

91
,8

25
17

,0
00

20
5,

50
9

18
3,

50
9

17
,0

00
5,

00
0

20
5,

50
9

0
(0

)
1,

90
5,

00
0

20
31

20
32

96
,9

22
87

,8
52

17
,0

00
20

1,
77

4
17

9,
77

4
17

,0
00

5,
00

0
20

1,
77

4
0

(0
)

1,
80

5,
00

0
20

32
20

33
97

,1
60

88
,7

28
18

5,
88

8
18

0,
88

8
5,

00
0

18
5,

88
8

0
0

1,
70

0,
00

0
20

33
20

34
97

,4
00

89
,3

32
18

6,
73

2
18

1,
73

2
5,

00
0

18
6,

73
2

(0
)

(0
)

1,
59

0,
00

0
20

34
20

35
97

,6
39

89
,6

42
18

7,
28

1
18

2,
28

2
5,

00
0

18
7,

28
2

(0
)

(0
)

1,
47

5,
00

0
20

35
20

36
97

,8
80

89
,6

54
18

7,
53

4
18

2,
53

4
5,

00
0

18
7,

53
4

0
0

1,
35

5,
00

0
20

36
20

37
98

,1
21

89
,3

71
18

7,
49

2
18

2,
49

2
5,

00
0

18
7,

49
2

0
0

1,
23

0,
00

0
20

37
20

38
98

,3
63

88
,7

86
18

7,
14

9
18

2,
14

9
5,

00
0

18
7,

14
9

0
0

1,
10

0,
00

0
20

38
20

39
98

,6
05

87
,8

85
18

6,
49

0
18

1,
49

0
5,

00
0

18
6,

49
0

0
0

96
5,

00
0

20
39

20
40

98
,8

48
86

,6
38

18
5,

48
6

18
0,

48
7

5,
00

0
18

5,
48

7
(1

)
(0

)
82

5,
00

0
20

40
20

41
99

,0
91

85
,0

39
18

4,
13

0
17

9,
13

0
5,

00
0

18
4,

13
0

(0
)

(0
)

68
0,

00
0

20
41

20
42

99
,3

35
88

,0
07

18
7,

34
2

18
2,

34
1

5,
00

0
18

7,
34

1
1

0
52

5,
00

0
20

42
20

43
99

,5
80

85
,5

55
18

5,
13

5
18

0,
13

5
5,

00
0

18
5,

13
5

(0
)

(0
)

36
5,

00
0

20
43

20
44

99
,8

25
87

,6
78

18
7,

50
3

18
2,

50
3

5,
00

0
18

7,
50

3
0

0
19

5,
00

0
20

44
20

45
10

0,
07

1
89

,2
04

18
9,

27
5

18
4,

27
5

5,
00

0
18

9,
27

5
(0

)
(0

)
15

,0
00

20
45

20
46

10
0,

31
7

10
0,

31
7

0
95

,3
17

5,
00

0
10

0,
31

7
0

(0
)

1,
95

6,
84

3
20

46
20

47
10

0,
56

4
10

0,
56

4
0

95
,5

64
5,

00
0

10
0,

56
4

0
0

1,
86

1,
27

9
20

47
20

48
10

0,
81

2
10

0,
81

2
0

95
,8

12
5,

00
0

10
0,

81
2

(0
)

(0
)

1,
76

5,
46

7
20

48
20

49
10

1,
06

0
10

1,
06

0
0

96
,0

60
5,

00
0

10
1,

06
0

(0
)

(0
)

1,
66

9,
40

7
20

49
20

50
10

1,
30

9
10

1,
30

9
0

96
,3

09
5,

00
0

10
1,

30
9

(0
)

(0
)

1,
57

3,
09

8
20

50
20

51
10

1,
55

8
10

1,
55

8
0

96
,5

58
5,

00
0

10
1,

55
8

0
(0

)
1,

47
6,

54
0

20
51

20
52

10
1,

80
8

10
1,

80
8

0
96

,8
09

5,
00

0
10

1,
80

9
(1

)
(1

)
1,

37
9,

73
1

20
52

20
53

10
2,

05
9

10
2,

05
9

0
87

,0
59

15
,0

00
10

2,
05

9
0

(0
)

1,
29

2,
67

2
20

53

To
ta

ls
 

2,
52

9,
52

0
38

0,
00

0
1,

95
6,

84
3

2,
20

4,
21

2
85

,0
00

7,
15

5,
57

5
3,

38
6,

87
6

35
0,

00
0

85
,0

00
75

9,
48

8
2,

35
0,

00
0

54
,2

12
17

0,
00

0
7,

15
5,

57
6

To
ta

ls
 

N
ot

es
:

1.
 S

ta
ff

or
d 

St
re

et
 B

rid
ge

 co
st

s n
ot

 cu
rr

en
tly

 a
cc

ou
nt

ed
 fo

r i
n 

pr
op

os
ed

 ca
sh

 fl
ow

Li
ab

ili
tie

s 
O

ut
st

an
di

ng
De

ve
lo

pe
r 

In
fr

as
tr

uc
tu

re
Re

pa
ym

en
t 

of
 A

dv
an

ce
s

To
ta

l 
Ex

pe
nd

itu
re

s
Pu

bl
ic

 
In

fr
as

tr
uc

tu
re

De
ve

lo
pm

en
t 

In
ce

nt
iv

es
Fi

na
nc

in
g 

Co
st

s

Ci
ty

 o
f P

lym
ou

th
, W

isc
on

sin
Ta

x 
In

cr
em

en
t D

ist
ric

t N
o.

 8
Ca

sh
 F

lo
w

 P
ro

je
ct

io
n

Ta
x 

Le
vy

 
Co

nt
rib

ut
io

n

Tr
an

sf
er

 
fr

om
 R

oo
m

 
Ta

x 
Fu

nd
Ad

va
nc

es
Ta

x 
In

cr
em

en
ts

De
bt

 
Pr

oc
ee

ds

O
ng

oi
ng

 
Pl

an
ni

ng
 &

 
Ad

m
in

is
tr

at
io

Pr
oj

ec
te

d 
Ex

pe
nd

itu
re

s
Pr

oj
ec

te
d 

Re
ve

nu
es

To
ta

l 
Re

ve
nu

es

Ba
la

nc
es

20
25

 G
.O

. P
ro

m
is

so
ry

 N
ot

e

An
nu

al
Cu

m
ul

at
iv

e

Page 64 of 84



Ta
x 

In
cr

em
en

ta
l D

ist
ric

t N
o.

 8
 P

ro
je

ct
 P

la
n 

 
Ci

ty
 o

f P
ly

m
ou

th
 

Pr
ep

ar
ed

 b
y 

Eh
le

rs
 

 
Pa

ge
 |

 2
8 

 

Page 65 of 84



SECTION 10: 
Annexed Property 

A tax incremental district cannot include annexed territory unless at least three 
years have elapsed since the annexation, or certain other requirements are met. 
None of the property within the proposed District boundary was annexed 
during the past three years. 

SECTION 11:  
Estimate of Property to Be Devoted to Retail Business 

Pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 66.1105(5)(b), the City estimates that less than 35% of 
the territory within the District will be devoted to retail business at the end of 
the District’s maximum expenditure period.  

SECTION 12:  
Proposed Changes of Zoning Ordinances, Master Plan, 
Map, Building Codes and City Ordinances 

Zoning Ordinances 

The proposed Plan is in general conformance with the City’s current zoning 
ordinances. Individual properties may require rezoning at the time of 
development.  

Master (Comprehensive) Plan and Map 

The proposed Plan is in general conformance with the City’s Comprehensive 
Plan identifying the area as appropriate for hotel development.   

Building Codes and Ordinances 

Development within the District will be required to conform to State Building 
Codes and will be subject to the City's permitting and inspection procedures. 
The proposed Plan conforms to all relevant State and local ordinances, plans, 
and codes. No changes to the existing regulations are proposed or needed. 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 66 of 84



Tax Incremental District No. 8 Project Plan  City of Plymouth 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 30 

SECTION 13:  
Statement of the Proposed Method for the Relocation of 
any Persons to be Displaced 
Should implementation of this Plan require relocation of individuals or business 
operations, relocations will be handled in compliance with Wis. Stat. Chapter 
32 and Wis. Admin. Code ADM 92.  

SECTION 14:  
How Creation of the Tax Incremental District Promotes 
the Orderly Development of the City 

Creation of the District and the implementation of the projects in its Plan will 
promote the orderly development of the City by rehabilitating and conserving 
property, providing necessary public infrastructure improvements, providing 
appropriate financial incentives for private development projects. Through use 
of tax increment financing, the City can attract new investment that results in 
increased tax base. Development will occur in an orderly fashion in accordance 
with approved plans so that the Projects will be compatible with adjacent land 
uses. Development of new uses in the District will add to the tax base and will 
generate positive secondary impacts in the community such as increased 
employment opportunities and needed hotel tourism space. 

 

  

Page 67 of 84



Tax Incremental District No. 8 Project Plan  City of Plymouth 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 31 

SECTION 15:  
List of Estimated Non-Project Costs 

Non-project costs are public works projects which only partly benefit the 
District. Costs incurred that do not benefit the District may not be paid with tax 
increments. Examples of non-project costs are: 

 A public improvement made within the District that also benefits 
property outside the District. That portion of the total Project Costs 
allocable to properties outside of the District would be a non-project 
cost.  

 A public improvement made outside the District that only partially 
benefits property within the District. That portion of the total Project 
Costs allocable to properties outside of the District would be a non-
project cost. 

 Projects undertaken within the District as part of the implementation of 
this Project Plan, the costs of which are paid fully or in part by impact 
fees, grants, special assessments, or revenues other than tax increments. 

No improvements to be made within the District will benefit property outside 
the District. Furthermore, there will be no improvements made outside the 
District that will only partially benefit the District. 

 
 

  

Page 68 of 84



Tax Incremental District No. 8 Project Plan  City of Plymouth 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 32 

SECTION 16:  
Legal Opinion Advising Whether the Plan is Complete 
and Complies with Wis. Stat. § 66.1105(4)(f) 

Legal Opinion Found on Following Page. 

  

Page 69 of 84



Tax Incremental District No. 8 Project Plan  City of Plymouth 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 33 

NNEED WET SIGNATURE & DATED LEGAL OPINION ON ATTORNEY 
LETTERHEAD 

 
SAMPLE 
 
Mayor 
City of Plymouth 
128 Smith St 
Plymouth, Wisconsin 53073 
 
RE: Project Plan for Tax Incremental District No. 8 
 
Dear Mayor: 
 
Wisconsin Statute 66.1105(4)(f) requires that a project plan for a tax 
incremental financing district include an opinion provided by the City Attorney 
advising as to whether the plan is complete and complies with Wisconsin 
Statute 66.1105.  
 
As City Attorney for the City of Plymouth, I have been asked to review the 
above-referenced project plan for compliance with the applicable statutory 
requirements. Based upon my review, in my opinion, the Project Plan for the 
City of Plymouth Tax Incremental District No. 8 is complete and complies with 
the provisions of Wisconsin Statute 66.1105. 
 
 
Sincerely, 
 
 
 
 
City Attorney 
  

Page 70 of 84



Tax Incremental District No. 8 Project Plan  City of Plymouth 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 34 

SECTION 17:  
Calculation of the Share of Projected Tax Increments 
Estimated to be Paid by the Owners of Property in the 
Overlying Taxing Jurisdictions 

The following projection is provided to meet the requirements of Wis. Stat. § 
66.1105(4)(i)4. 

 

 

Revenue 
Year

Sheboygan 
County

City of 
Plymouth

Plymouth 
School District

Lakeshore 
Technical Total

Revenue 
Year

2027 0 0 0 0 0 2027
2028 11,944 17,104 20,921 1,887 51,856 2028
2029 22,160 31,733 38,816 3,501 96,209 2029
2030 22,215 31,811 38,911 3,509 96,446 2030
2031 22,269 31,889 39,007 3,518 96,684 2031
2032 22,324 31,968 39,103 3,526 96,922 2032
2033 22,379 32,047 39,199 3,535 97,160 2033
2034 22,434 32,126 39,296 3,544 97,400 2034
2035 22,490 32,205 39,393 3,553 97,639 2035
2036 22,545 32,284 39,490 3,561 97,880 2036
2037 22,600 32,364 39,587 3,570 98,121 2037
2038 22,656 32,443 39,684 3,579 98,363 2038
2039 22,712 32,523 39,782 3,588 98,605 2039
2040 22,768 32,603 39,880 3,597 98,848 2040
2041 22,824 32,684 39,978 3,605 99,091 2041
2042 22,880 32,764 40,077 3,614 99,335 2042
2043 22,936 32,845 40,175 3,623 99,580 2043
2044 22,993 32,926 40,274 3,632 99,825 2044
2045 23,050 33,007 40,373 3,641 100,071 2045
2046 23,106 33,088 40,473 3,650 100,317 2046
2047 23,163 33,169 40,573 3,659 100,564 2047
2048 23,220 33,251 40,672 3,668 100,812 2048
2049 23,277 33,333 40,773 3,677 101,060 2049
2050 23,335 33,415 40,873 3,686 101,309 2050
2051 23,392 33,497 40,974 3,695 101,558 2051
2052 23,450 33,580 41,075 3,704 101,808 2052
2053 23,508 33,663 41,176 3,713 102,059 2053

Totals 582,631 834,320 1,020,533 92,035 2,529,520

Estimated portion of taxes that owners of taxable property in each taxing 
jurisdiction overlaying district would pay by jurisdiction.

City of Plymouth, Wisconsin
Tax Increment District No. 8

Page 71 of 84



City of Plymouth, Wisconsin Tax Incremental District No. 8 Plan Commission Resolution 
 

EXHIBIT A - 
 
 
 
 
 

TAX INCREMENTAL DISTRICT NO. 8 
BOUNDARY MAP 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

[INCLUDED IN PROJECT PLAN] 

Page 72 of 84



City of Plymouth, Wisconsin Tax Incremental District No. 8 Plan Commission Resolution 
 

EXHIBIT B - 
 
 
 
 
 

PROJECT PLAN 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

[DISTRIBUTED SEPARATELY] 

Page 73 of 84



SITE LAYOUT PLAN
ALTERNATE ISLAND
DESIGN

C102

PROJECT:

RELEASE:

CITY OF
PLYMOUTH

RIVERFRONT
PARKING
IMPROVEMENTS

PRELIMINARY

SHEET:

REVISIONS:

CLIENT:

NORTH ARROW:

SEAL:

0 10 20 40

PROJECT MANAGER:
PROJECT NUMBER: 250215.01
DATE: 5/21/2025

JS

all in

1" = 20'SCALE:

# DATE DESCRIPTION

SHEET NUMBER:

LOCATION:

7711 N. Port Washington Rd.
Milwaukee, Wisconsin    53217

kapurinc.com

Page 74 of 84



 

 
 
 
 
City of Plymouth 
128 Smith St. - P.O. Box 107 
Plymouth, WI  53073-0107 
  

 

 
  

 
 
 
 

Telephone: (920) 893-1271 
Facsimile: (920) 893-0183 

     Web Site:        plymouthgov.com 
 
 

 
DATE:  May 27, 2025 

TO:   Plan Commission   
 
FROM: Jack Johnston, Assistant City Administrator/Community Development Director 
  Clara Yoder, Administrator Intern 
 
RE: Discussion on existing non-conforming structures and lots 
 
Background: 
Staff would like to discuss existing non-conforming structures within the City and current 
ordinance language that prohibits expansions/additions to them. PMC 13-1-221 defines existing 
non-conforming structures as the following:  
 

• Any such structure conforming in respect to use but not in respect to frontage, width, 
height, area, yard, parking, loading, or distance requirements shall not be considered 
a nonconforming use but shall be considered nonconforming with respect to those 
characteristics. 

 
PMC 13-1-82 restricts expansions/additions to these structures through the following language: 
 

• The lawful nonconforming structure existing at the time of the adoption or amendment of 
this chapter may be continued although its size or location does not conform with the lot 
width, lot area, yard, height, parking and loading, and access provisions of this chapter. 
However, it shall not be extended, enlarged, reconstructed, moved or structurally altered 
except when required to do so by law or order or so as to comply with the provisions of 
this chapter. 

 
City staff discussed PMC 13-1-82 with the Committee of the Whole at their meeting on May 13, 
2025. The Committee was in favor of updating the ordinance to allow additions to existing non-
conforming structures, so long as the proposed addition would not increase the non-conformity 
nor create a new non-conformity.  
 
As a logical next step, City staff would like to propose the update to the Plan Commission to 
facilitate discussion and workshop general parameters of what an ordinance update should look 
like before bringing it to the Common Council for final consideration and adoption.  
 
How a Structure Becomes Non-Conforming: 
Each municipality may enact their own zoning regulations that create separate and distinct zoning 
districts. In Plymouth, there are 17 distinct zoning districts. Each zoning district has regulations 
related to allowable use. For example, a business zoning district may allow a commercial bakery 
as a permitted use, but a residential zoning district would not allow that same use. Additionally, 
each zoning district will also regulate items such as minimum lot size, minimum square footage 
for principal structure, yard setbacks, lot width, road frontage, etc. Each municipality has the 
authority to regulate their zoning code how they want and what sort of structures and placement 

Page 75 of 84



of those structures are permissible. As an example in Plymouth, the R-2 single family residential 
zoning district has a side yard setback for homes of 9’, where another municipality may require 
25’ or 5’ of side yard setback, or whatever their elected officials think is appropriate.  
 
As municipalities update their zoning code, many properties may become existing non-conforming 
structures as a bi-product of that. For example, a home built in 1915 at time when the City did not 
have any setback restrictions and is only 5’ from a neighboring lot line would become existing 
non-conforming when an ordinance is adopted that requires a 9’ setback. If that does happen, 
current code language would only allow the property owner to repair and maintain that home, but 
it does not allow alterations such as additions or expansions, regardless of whether the proposed 
addition or expansion would increase the non-conformity of the structure.  
 
State Building Regulations vs. Local Zoning Regulations: 
The City contracts with Witkowski Inspection Agency, LLC to provide Building Inspection services 
in accordance with PMC 2-3-8. Building Inspector Brian Witkowski, owner and operator of 
aforementioned inspection agency, is responsible for reviewing, approving, and inspecting 
building, electrical, HVAC, and plumbing projects within City limits to ensure compliance with 
State Code. 
 
The State Code does not regulate items such as building setbacks from property lines or building 
height. These regulations are left to each municipality at the local level and are typically governed 
through local ordinances.  
 
When a building addition proposal comes to the City, the Building Inspector and the City’s 
Community Development Director work together to verify the proposal meets both City and State 
code regulations. The Building Inspector is responsible for reviewing the proposal and its 
compliance with the State of Wisconsin’s building code requirements. If both the existing structure 
and proposed addition conform to the City’s zoning code and the plans comply with State Code, 
the City will issue a building permit for the project. However, if the existing building is considered 
existing non-conforming, the City is unable to approve an addition, extension, reconstruction, or 
structural alteration to the building pursuant to PMC 13-1-81. This is true for situations where the 
proposed addition or alteration would not increase the non-conformity and is otherwise allowed 
by State code. 
 
As a disclaimer, no contemplated update to the existing nonconforming structure ordinance would 
alleviate State of Wisconsin building code requirements. If the ordinance is updated and additions 
to existing non-conforming structures becomes allowed in some way, those proposals must still 
be reviewed by the building inspector and meet State Code.  
 
Non-Conforming Lots: 
There is a distinct difference between existing non-conforming structures and existing non-
conforming lots. The City of Plymouth has many lots considered non-conforming or substandard 
due to their size, lot frontage, or lot width. For example, in the R-2 single family residential district, 
current zoning regulations require lots to have 60’ of street frontage and a minimum property width 
of 80’ at the building line. A bulk of both old and new homes within the City are in this zoning 
district. Much of the older housing stock in and around the downtown area do not have 60’ of 
street frontage. While most of these lots have already been built on, City Code does not have 
flexibility for building on these lots except for the Board of Appeals process. For example, the 
Board of Appeals recently granted a variance to build a new home on a vacant lot on Forest 
Avenue because the lot did not have the adequate street frontage nor could the home be built 
with a minimum property width of 80’ at the building line. While all setbacks, height maximums, 
etc. were being met with the home proposal, the applicant had no choice but to seek a variance 
due to the lot, rather than the structure itself.  
 
Block by Block Example: 
City staff conducted a rough analysis of a few blocks of older housing stock in the City north of 
City Hall to get an idea of how many homes are considered existing non-conforming. In many Page 76 of 84



cases, staff did not have access to surveys that showed current setbacks so staff had to rely on 
measuring using publicly available Sheboygan County GIS data. Staff will provide a map of the 
studied area at the Plan Commission meeting to help visualize the data, but it was not available 
at the time of publication of this report. 
 
 
Discussion Points for Today: 
 

1. Lateral vs. Vertical Additions 
a. Vertical Addition Option 1: Allow vertical additions to exist, but require they follow 

current zoning setbacks, rather than be built upon the existing footprint of the 
home. 

i. Staff has concerns this option may lead to unattractive architectural 
features and lead to homeowners seeking a variance for any proposed 
additions. 

b. Vertical Addition Option 2: Allow vertical additions to existing non-conforming 
structures so long as the addition does not expand the footprint of the 
nonconforming structure, and stays under the max height limit, and would be 
otherwise allowed by Code. (Example: Oconto County, Wisconsin) 
 

 
 

i. Vertical Addition Staff Recommendation: Option 2, allow vertical 
additions to existing non-conforming structures so long as the addition does 
not expand the footprint of the nonconforming structure, and stays under 
the max height limit, and would be otherwise allowed by Code.  
 

a. Lateral Additions Option 1: Allow lateral additions, require that any proposed lateral 
addition does not further encroach on any existing setback or create new non-
conformity.  This would allow homeowners to build additions along existing setback 
line of structure. For example, if the home had an existing 5’ side yard setback but 
should have a 9’ setback, the addition could follow that 5’ setback but could not 
come any closer to the lot line. 

b. Lateral Addition Option 2: Allow lateral additions, but require that any lateral 
addition follow currently permitted setbacks, regardless of the existing setback of 
the existing nonconforming structure. For example, if current structure has an 
existing setback of 5’ from the side yard but code requires 9’, a lateral addition 
would only be permitted so long as the addition was at least 9’ from the side yard. 

i. Lateral Addition Staff Recommendation: Staff recommends Option 1. 
Setbacks are typically measured from the closest point of the structure to 
the lot line.  

 
2. Approval Process for Additions to Existing Non-Conforming Structures: 

a. Should municipal staff (zoning/building) review and approve additions to legal non-
conforming structures administratively, or should Plan Commission review them 
prior to local permits such as the existing Site Plan Review process for commercial 
properties? 

i. Recommendation: No recommendation, Plan Commission should 
discuss. 

Page 77 of 84



 
3. Existing Non-Conforming Lots 

a. Should ordinance language be updated to allow construction on existing non-
conforming lots through approval process by the Plan Commission, or should that 
authority remain with the Board of Appeals? 

i. Recommendation: No recommendation, Plan Commission should 
discuss. 

 
Other Community Ordinance Examples: 
Staff has provided a few examples of ordinances from other communities for the Plan 
Commission to review. It is included as an attachment. 
 
Staff Request:  
Staff would like the Plan Commission to discuss and provide parameters for updated ordinance 
language. Staff will then prepare a draft ordinance for discussion at a future Plan Commission 
meeting. 
 
 
Attachments: 
 

i. Example Ordinances from other Municipalities 
 
 
 
 

 
  

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 78 of 84



Oconto County Shoreland nonconforming structures 4-4-17 

   

  

Shoreland Nonconforming Structures 

Chapter 26.1100 Oconto County Shoreland Protection Ordinance 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Maintenance, Repair & Replacement 

An existing nonconforming principal or accessory structure may be maintained, repaired, replaced, rebuilt or remodeled 

in the same location. The activity may not expand the footprint of the nonconforming structure, unless the expansion is 

necessary to comply with other applicable state or federal requirements. (Example- UDC).  These activities do not 

require mitigation. Please contact our office to determine what permits are necessary.  

Vertical Expansion 

An existing nonconforming principal or accessory structure may be vertically expanded in the same location to a 

maximum height of 35 feet above grade level. The activity may not expand the footprint of the nonconforming 

structure, unless necessary to comply with other applicable state or federal requirements. (Example- UDC). Please 

contact our office to determine what permits are necessary for the vertical expansion of a nonconforming structure.  

 

 

A Nonconforming structure is a lawfully placed 

structure which does not meet the required 

shoreland setback. The required shoreland 

setback is 75 feet from the Ordinary High Water 

Mark (OHWM), unless setback averaging applies 

to the principal structure. Additions and 

expansions to a principal structure beyond the 75 

ft setback to OHWM are allowed, provided all 

other ordinance requirements are met. 

 

Second story addition in 

the same footprint  

 

OHWM 

OFFICE OF PLANNING, ZONING & SOLID WASTE 

A Division of 

Land & Water Resources Department 
Oconto County Courthouse, 301 Washington Street, Oconto, WI 54153 

920-834-6827  www.co.oconto.wi.us 
 

Page 79 of 84



Oconto County Shoreland nonconforming structures 4-4-17 

Lateral Expansion of a Principal Structure within the  Shoreland Setback 

To permit lateral expansion, the existing principal structure must be located at least 35 feet from the OHWM.   The 

structure may be expanded laterally within the required shoreland setback provided the addition does not exceed 200 

square feet in size and it is no closer to the waterway than the existing structure. A one-time lateral expansion is allowed 

over the life of the structure. (3) Mitigation points are required. Mitigation measures are required to offset the impacts 

from development close to a waterway. Refer to the Oconto County Mitigation Guidebook for more information on how 

these mitigation points can be earned. All other setbacks and ordinance provisions must be met. See example below.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Relocation of a Principal Structure within the  Shoreland Setback 

The existing principal structure must be located at least 35 from the OHWM. The structure may be relocated on the 

property as long as no portion is closer to the OHWM than the existing structure and the County determines that no 

other location is available on the property to build a principal structure of equal size that would conform to setbacks. (1) 

mitigation point is required for this activity. Mitigation measures are required to offset the impacts from development 

close to a waterway. Refer to the Oconto County Mitigation Guidebook for more information on how these mitigation 

points can be earned. All other setbacks and ordinance provisions must be met. See example below.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Relocation of 

Dwelling 

 

 

New 200 

sq. ft. 

addition  

 

Existing Dwelling  

 

OHWM  

35 feet  

60 feet  

LAKE  

Old 

Shed 

OHWM  

35 feet  

LAKE  

Proposed mitigation 
Removal of shed 
w/in 35ft of OWHM   

65 feet  

Divert rain water from 

gutters, downspouts to 

a designed rain garden   

Proposed mitigation  

Existing 

Dwelling 

Location  

 

Page 80 of 84



A. 

(1) 

(2) 

(3) 

(4) 

B. 

[1]

Town of Cedarburg, WI
Wednesday, May 14, 2025

Chapter 320. Zoning

Article VI. Nonconforming Uses, Structures and Land

§ 320-65. Additions and enlargements.

Additions and enlargements to existing nonconforming structures in the residential zoning districts
are permitted when it is determined that the enlargement or addition does not increase the
nonconformity of the structure, that is, it does not decrease existing setbacks of the established
structure. Additions to existing nonconforming structures must comply with the required setbacks of
the zoning district, with the following exceptions:

An addition to the side of a structure does not come any closer to the right-of-way than the
closest part of the current nonconforming structure already does.

An addition to the nonconforming side of a structure does not come any closer to the property
line than the closest part of the current nonconforming structure.

Any additional stories to a structure are located over existing indoor living space and do not
exceed the maximum height requirement for the zoning district in which the structure is
located.

The addition and/or enlargement is required to address any federal, state or local codes.

Town Board approval is required for all additions and/or enlargements to nonconforming structures.
Documentation shall be provided to the Town Board by the property owner substantiating the cost
of the building addition and/or enlargement. A fee to cover the cost to the Town of Cedarburg and/or
consultants for reviewing the plans and specifications shall be paid as set in the Town Fee
Schedule.[1] All appropriate building permits shall be obtained from the Building Inspector prior to
commencement of the addition and/or enlargement.
[Amended 3-5-2014 by Ord. No. 2014-1]

Editor's Note: The Fee Schedule is on file in the Town offices.

5/14/25, 8:13 AM Town of Cedarburg, WI Additions and enlargements.

https://ecode360.com/print/CE2158?guid=9759072 1/1
Page 81 of 84

https://ecode360.com/print/9759073#9759073
https://ecode360.com/print/9759074#9759074
https://ecode360.com/print/9759075#9759075
https://ecode360.com/print/9759076#9759076
https://ecode360.com/print/9759077#9759077
https://ecode360.com/print/9759078#9759078


(a)

(b)

(c)

(1)

a.

b.

c.

d.

e.

f.

g.

h.

(2)

a.

b.

c.

d.

e.

Sec. 36-1504. - Legal nonconforming structures.

Generally. A legal nonconforming structure may be used for any conforming use.

Enlargement. A legal nonconforming structure that is used for a conforming use may be enlarged

consistent with the requirements in division 21 of article V provided the expansion complies with

all other requirements of this chapter.

Building addition within offset.

The plan commission may grant a special exception, pursuant to the procedures outlined in

division 11 of article V, authorizing the construction of a building addition within an offset

area provided:

The building to which it is attached is located within an offset area;

The existing building was legally established;

The use of the building is legal conforming;

The addition is in compliance with the height limitations of the zoning district in which it is

located, and is not greater in height than the contiguous portion of the existing building;

The addition does not extend closer to the side or rear lot line than the existing building

to which it is attached;

The addition does not extend into an offset area the building does not currently encroach

upon;

The addition is not within an area of a shore setback or a setback from the C-1 zoning

district; and

The addition complies with all other dimensional standards that may apply.

See figure 11-1 for examples of permissible additions. In making its decision, the plan

commission should consider the following factors, in addition to those factors listed in

subsection 36-424.

The size and location of the existing legal non-conforming structure.

The size and location of any other structure on the subject property.

The size and location of the proposed expansion.

The necessity of constructing the addition within the offset.

The proximity of buildings and other structures on adjoining properties.

Figure 11-1. Examples of permissible expansions within an offset area

5/14/25, 1:20 PM Mukwonago, Waukesha Co, WI Code of Ordinances

about:blank 1/2
Page 82 of 84

https://library.municode.com/
https://library.municode.com/
https://library.municode.com/


(d)

(e)

Reconstruction following damage. A legal nonconforming structure that is damaged by violent

wind, vandalism, fire, flood, ice, snow, mold, or infestation on or after March 2, 2006, may be

restored to its condition (size, location, and use) prior to the damage, except the structure may be

larger when necessary to comply with state or federal requirements.

Unsafe conditions, ordinary maintenance, and remodeling. Nothing in this article shall be deemed

to prevent the strengthening or restoring to a safe condition of any structure or part thereof,

ordinary repair and maintenance, or remodeling that does not change any exterior physical

dimension to the structure provided that the work conforms to the provisions in this chapter.

(Ord. No. 2020-O-48, § 1(Exh. A), 9-16-2020)

State Law reference— Wis. Stats. § 62.23(7)(hc).

5/14/25, 1:20 PM Mukwonago, Waukesha Co, WI Code of Ordinances

about:blank 2/2
Page 83 of 84

https://mcclibrary.blob.core.usgovcloudapi.net/codecontent/13733/394890/FG11-1.png
https://mcclibrary.blob.core.usgovcloudapi.net/codecontent/13733/394890/FG11-1.png
https://library.municode.com/


(1)

Sec. 98-227. - Conforming structures on nonconforming lots.

The conforming use of a conforming structure existing at the time of the adoption or amendment of this

chapter may be continued although the lot area or lot width does not conform to the requirements this

chapter.

Additions and enlargements to the structures or reconstruction of the structure is permitted

if it conforms with the established building setback lines along streets and the yard, height,

parking, loading, and access provisions of this chapter.

5/14/25, 8:17 AM West Milwaukee, WI Code of Ordinances

about:blank 1/1
Page 84 of 84


	PACKET ITEM Scholler CSM PC Memo 5-1-25.pdf
	City of Plymouth
	128 Smith St. - P.O. Box 107
	Plymouth, WI  53073-0107

	PACKET ITEM Prange CSM PC Memo 6-5-2025.pdf
	City of Plymouth
	128 Smith St. - P.O. Box 107
	Plymouth, WI  53073-0107

	PACKET ITEM Aurora CUP  SPR PC Memo 6-5-25.pdf
	City of Plymouth
	128 Smith St. - P.O. Box 107
	Plymouth, WI  53073-0107
	A.2 Aurora Plymouth Site Plan 04.04.25.pdf
	Sheets and Views
	A.2 Aurora Plymouth Site Plan 04.04.25-Model


	A.4 Aurora Plymouth One Line 04.04.25.pdf
	Sheets and Views
	A.4 Aurora Plymouth One Line 04.04.25-Model


	plat of survey - unsigned.pdf
	Return to Switchboard
	CU-101

	Sinclair Connection Detials.pdf
	Connection Details C1 Rev 0
	Connection Details C2 Rev 0
	Connection Details C3 Rev 0


	Legal Nonconforming Structure Memo 6-5-25.pdf
	City of Plymouth
	128 Smith St. - P.O. Box 107
	Plymouth, WI  53073-0107




